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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, JULY 11, 2018, 8:55 A.M.

2 (Court was called to order)

3 THE COURT:  Good morning.  You can be seated.

4 Mr. Smith, can you hear me?

5 MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor, I can.  Do you hear me?

6           THE COURT:  I can.  Mr. Smith, welcome back to

7 Business Court.  How many years has it been since you left

8 Pisanelli Bice and were in Business Court last?

9 MR. SMITH:  Too long.  Probably about two and a half

10 years, I think, Your Honor.  Good to see you again.

11           THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Lalli, why are you here? 

12 This is Business Court, Mr. Lalli.

13 MR. LALLI:  I have an interest in this proceeding.

14           THE COURT:  Okay.  I'm going to have those who are

15 in Ely please identify themselves first, and then have those

16 in the courtroom who are appearing identify themselves,

17 please.

18 MR. SMITH:  This is Jordan Smith, the Deputy

19 Solicitor General, on behalf of the Nevada Department of

20 Corrections.  With me is Ann McDermott.  Also in the

21 conference room with me is Warden Baca, Deputy Director of

22 Operations Harold Wickam, and Ely State Prison Warden Gittere.

23           THE COURT:  Good morning, gentlemen.

24 And those in the courtroom?

25 MR. BICE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Todd Bice on
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1 behalf of the plaintiff, Alvogen.  With me also, Your Honor,

2 as I introduced on the phone yesterday, is Kenneth Schuler

3 from Latham & Watkins.

4 MR. SCHULER:  Good morning, Your Honor.

5 MR. BICE:  And Mike Farris from Latham & Watkins,

6 Your Honor.

7 MR. FARRIS:  'Morning, Your Honor.

8           THE COURT:  'Morning.

9 MR. PISANELLI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  James

10 Pisanelli on behalf of Alvogen.

11           THE COURT:  You weren't going to let your partner

12 identify you?

13 MR. PISANELLI:  He wasn't going to do it.  I could

14 see it coming.  So I had to go ahead and jump in.

15           THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Schuler and Mr. Farris,

16 you are appearing today on a temporary reprieve while you file

17 your pro hac applications.  Regardless of what happens in this

18 hearing you're still going to have to file them.

19 MR. SCHULER:  We appreciate the accommodation, Your

20 Honor.

21           THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Smith stipulated, so it was

22 easy for us to accommodate you.

23 MR. SCHULER:  Thank you.

24 MR. BICE:  And we appreciate him doing that, Your

25 Honor.
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1 I'd also make just so -- and I'll -- he doesn't need

2 an introduction, but Mr. Colby Williams is here this morning,

3 Your Honor, on behalf of an additional party that I believe

4 wants to be heard.  But I'm going to leave that to you and Mr.

5 Williams.

6           THE COURT:  Mr. Williams.

7 MR. WILLIAMS:  Good morning, Your Honor.

8           THE COURT:  Good morning.

9 MR. WILLIAMS:  We've got the gang back together

10 here.

11           THE COURT:  Feels like old times.

12 MR. WILLIAMS:  Your Honor --

13           THE COURT:  You've got to get near a mike, or Jill's

14 going to scold you.

15 MR. WILLIAMS:  That's why I'm coming up, Your Honor.

16 Very briefly, and I won't take the lead here, but we

17 represent a company called Sandoz, Inc., S-A-N-D-O-Z, Inc. 

18 Sandoz, Inc., manufactures one of the other drugs that is to

19 be used in the planned execution, Your Honor, and we likewise

20 have an objection.  I'll let the plaintiff make its argument

21 first and add a very brief argument after that if the Court

22 will allow it.

23           THE COURT:  Can you give me the trade name of your

24 client's drug?

25 MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, I can, Your Honor.  It's

5

APP0346



1 cisatracurium.

2           THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Williams.

3 MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you very much.

4 MR. SMITH:  Your Honor, if I may.

5           THE COURT:  I have an additional media request from

6 KTNV.  Unless there's an objection, I'm going to go ahead and

7 sign it.  Hearing no objection, the request is granted.

8 So, Dennis, could you give that to whoever I give

9 those to.

10 MR. SMITH:  Your Honor, may I be heard on Mr.

11 Williams's appearance quickly?

12           THE COURT:  He hasn't actually appeared yet.  He

13 just said hi.  So if he gets up to talk, I will let you be

14 heard related to his issues.  Okay?

15 MR. SMITH:  Understood, Your Honor.  Thank you.

16           THE COURT:  I don't know if he will actually get up

17 to be heard.  Sometimes he's very quiet.

18 All right.  Is there anything else before we start

19 with the plaintiff's application for a TRO.  I'm cross out the

20 word "ex parte," because I don't do ex parte TROs.  We had a

21 conference call yesterday afternoon to set this hearing so

22 anybody who was interested could be heard.

23 And now Mr. DiGiacomo is here.  Good morning, Mr.

24 DiGiacomo.  Why are you in Business Court?

25 MR. DiGIACOMO:  I hear that you might be hearing
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1 something that is of interest.

2           THE COURT:  Mr. Bice, it's you.

3 MR. BICE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

4 Your Honor, we appreciate the Court hearing this

5 matter.  In d let me start off sort of even addressing your

6 statement just a moment ago.  Let me be clear about what this

7 motion is not about.  This motion is not about the merits of

8 the death penalty or whether and when it is appropriate. 

9 Alvogen, Your Honor, is a business, and it takes no position

10 as to the merits or propriety of the death penalty in any

11 circumstances.  We are here in Business Court because this is

12 a business dispute.

13 What has happened here is Alvogen is a

14 pharmaceutical company that develops and sells products that

15 are designed to save and improve patients' lives.  And as a

16 pharmaceutical company it has the right to refuse to do

17 business with anyone, including the government, when it is

18 concerned and suspects that its products are going to be

19 misused.  And that's what this case is about, and that's why

20 we are here in a Business Court setting.  That is especially

21 the case, Your Honor, when the planned use is fundamentally at

22 odds with the company's purpose, the company's brand, and the

23 company's business goodwill.

24 Now, there isn't any doubt, I would submit, Your

25 Honor, about the -- you know, the immediacy of this situation
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1 or for the risk of potential irreparable harm to Alvogen if

2 its product is misused in this fashion.  In fact, we've

3 already attached to our pleading, so I don't want to belabor

4 the point, there's already media coverage that has raise

5 Alvogen's name in the context of what other media sources have

6 referenced as botched executions relating to this drug.  And

7 this drug, Your Honor, I'm sure that over the course of the

8 day I will mispronounce it, but I understand the proper

9 pronunciation is midazolam.  So if I mispronounce it, Your

10 Honor, I apologize.

11           THE COURT:  Your colleagues said you blew it

12 already.

13 MR. BICE:  I suspect that's the case.

14 So, Your Honor, what we are asking for today is a

15 TRO to not halt the execution, Your Honor.  The State is free

16 to exercise its prerogative, but it isn't free to do that in

17 the context of using a product that it is not authorized to

18 use for this purpose and that it acquired, we maintain,

19 through subterfuge.  That's what this case is about.  It is if

20 the State has other means of carrying out its wishes, that is

21 not an issue for Alvogen.

22 So what we're asking for in terms of the TRO, Your

23 Honor, is a TRO that preserves the status quo, which precludes

24 the use of Alvogen's product in this use.

25 So the question, as the Court knows, is simply
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1 straightforward.  It's reasonable probability of success, it's

2 a threat of irreparable harm if the status quo isn't maintain

3 until the Court can hold a preliminary injunction.

4           THE COURT:  And are monetary damages a sufficient --

5 MR. BICE:  And are monetary damages an adequate

6 remedy.  That's right.  So, Your Honor, for purposes of the

7 argument today I'm going to address a couple of points, and

8 then I'm going to have Mr. Schuler address what I would

9 consider to be -- what I'm characterizing as the property

10 rights questions relative to Alvogen products and why those

11 rights afford relief here.  But I'm going to address, Your

12 Honor, the fundamental point that we want to make about

13 NRS 41.700.  And before I turn to that, because we're here on

14 a TRO and I'm sure that the State is going to raise this

15 issue, the issue of timing, all right, why are we here now,

16 okay.  And I'll tell the Court why we are here now.  The

17 urgency that we are here now is purely the product of the

18 defendants' own making.  The defendants in this case have been

19 obviously planning on carrying out this execution for some

20 time now.  And I understand that.  But they also knew that

21 they had acquired these drugs and they also acknowledged to

22 Judge Wilson up in Carson City just last week that one of the

23 reasons that they were trying to keep the identity of where

24 they acquired the drugs, the manufacturers a secret is because

25 the manufacturers might very well object.  Well, with all due
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1 respect, Your Honor, the State's concession that what it was

2 doing was it was trying to keep that information hidden so

3 that my clients wouldn't be able to exercise their First

4 Amendment rights to come into court and seek relief is not

5 appropriate.  So the only reason that we are here now is

6 because until Saturday -- well, until Friday, actually, is

7 when Judge Wilson had ordered them to produce this information

8 in response to demands from the ACLU and in fact lawsuit that

9 the ACLU had filed we did not know that they had acquired this

10 product in this fashion.  In fact, we had reason to believe

11 that they had not, because we had specifically sent multiple

12 letters to both the governor, the Attorney General, as well as

13 to the prison and the warden warning them that they were not

14 permitted, directly or indirectly, to acquire our product for

15 this purpose because it is not an FDA-approved purpose, and we

16 object to their use of our product in that fashion, something

17 that we have a right to do.

18           THE COURT:  Can I stop you for a minute.

19 MR. BICE:  Yes.

20           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, does your client concede they

21 received those letters that according to the brief were sent

22 in April?

23 MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure if all those entities that

24 Mr. Bice has listed had received those letters, but I am aware

25 of some of them did receive those letters from Alvogen, the
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1 April 20th letter, that's correct.

2           THE COURT:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Smith, I just wanted

3 to make sure we were past that.

4 Okay, Mr. Bice.  You may continue.

5 MR. BICE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  So what we know,

6 Your Honor, is in April is when those letters were sent.  And

7 we now know based on the disclosures that were prompted by

8 Judge Wilson's order on Friday is that they had in fact after

9 receiving notice and after being told that they were not

10 allowed to acquire this product from my client for this use

11 they set about to do just that.  And there's no evidence that

12 they disclosed this to Cardinal.  Instead of going to Alvogen

13 directly, they went to Cardinal, an intermediary, and there's

14 no basis for claiming that they disclosed that, there's no

15 evidence that they disclosed that, and we had an understanding

16 with Cardinal while we were finalizing the terms of our

17 arrangement with Cardinal that they would not allow this

18 product to be used for that purpose.  And that's set forth in

19 the declarations that we have submitted to the Court, Your

20 Honor.  And in fact we finalized and signed that agreement at

21 the end of May.  And again, Your Honor, per the terms of the

22 invoices that we found out about on --

23           THE COURT:  Hold on a second.

24 MR. BICE:  Of course.

25           THE COURT:  We can't exclude people from the
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1 courtroom.  We can just pull up another chair.  We've got

2 chairs that we can --

3 (Pause in the proceedings)

4            THE COURT:  Sorry, Mr. Bice.

5 MR. BICE:  Oh.  It's all right, Your Honor.

6           THE COURT:  Good morning, Ms. Weckerly.

7 MS. WECKERLY:  Good morning.

8           THE COURT:  Mr. Bice, you can continue.  I've got

9 the whole Homicide Team in here now.

10 MR. BICE:  All right.  Thank you, Your Honor.  I

11 appreciate that.

12 So what I was saying, Your Honor, was the State per

13 the terms of the invoices that we found out about on Friday

14 where they had acquired this product from Cardinal in

15 violation of the explicit notices that they had received said

16 that they were going to pay for this sometime in June, which

17 is after the date in which we had even finalized the contract,

18 the formal contract with Cardinal.

19 So our point here, Your Honor, that takes us then to

20 NRS 41.700.  I know in our brief we have laid out a number of

21 claims and a number of causes of action.  In some of those we

22 are arguing that we have a private right of action under the

23 statute.  But the reason I'm going to focus on 41.700 for

24 purposes of today, Your Honor, and the temporary restraining

25 order is there's no question that we have a right of action
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1 under 41.700, because it specifically provides that we have a

2 claim for any knowing and unlawful use of a controlled

3 substance.  That's what has happened here.  This drug is a

4 controlled substance.

5           THE COURT:  Well, not yet.

6 MR. BICE:  What's that?

7           THE COURT:  It hasn't been used yet.

8 MR. BICE:  It has not been used yet, that is

9 correct.  And we are seeking to enjoin its use in this

10 inappropriate fashion.  And what our point here, Your Honor,

11 is the State acquired this knowingly -- knowing that it was

12 inappropriate.  And that is the definition of subterfuge, Your

13 Honor.  They acquired it in a fashion and they had -- as we

14 point out in our motion, Your Honor, they had notice that they

15 weren't to acquire it for this purpose, that they could not do

16 so, right.  They also had it shipped to the central pharmacy

17 in Las Vegas, rather than to the Ely State Prison, which is

18 again highlighting the fact that they didn't want to attract

19 attention about how they -- where they were planning on using

20 this and what they were planning on using it for.

21           THE COURT:  And, Mr. Bice, that's at Tab 3 of your

22 application for the TRO?

23 MR. BICE:  Yes, Your Honor.

24           THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

25 MR. BICE:  And again, Your Honor, there's -- we have
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1 substantial reason to believe, particularly for purposes of a

2 temporary restraining order, Your Honor, that they did not

3 disclose to Cardinal the terms of those letters that they had

4 received and that they were not to be acquiring it for this

5 purpose.  And, as they acknowledged to Judge Wilson -- and

6 it's in page 4 of his order, Your Honor.  I don't know if you

7 have his order, because I don't believe we provided it.

8           THE COURT:  I don't have it yet.

9 MR. BICE:  But I do have a copy of it for the Court. 

10 And Judge Wilson had acknowledged, Your Honor, he was having

11 to decide this on a very quick basis because the ACLU had

12 filed it shortly.  So this is a copy of his order granting in

13 part the emergency writ, Your Honor.

14           THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Bice.

15 MR. BICE:  Thank you.  And on page 4 of his order,

16 Your Honor, he --

17           THE COURT:  I'm going to mark it as Court's

18 Exhibit 1 for part of our record today.

19 MR. BICE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 So on page 4 what he specifically noted, Your Honor,

21 is that the State had noted that one of the reasons that they

22 didn't want this information out about how they acquired the

23 drugs was because the manufacturers and marketers of the drugs

24 may very well object and protest this particular use.  They

25 knew full well.  They had received our letters.  And I notice
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1 -- and to my knowledge -- and the Court will have to inquire

2 of the State -- I don't believe that they disclosed to Judge

3 Wilson that they had received those letters and that they had

4 acquired the products despite those explicit warnings that

5 they were not allowed to do so.

6 So our point here, Your Honor, is this is the very

7 definition, we would submit, of a subterfuge.  Which then

8 takes us, Your Honor, to the terms of 453.331, Your Honor,

9 which, as we maintain, is a predicate act that is a violation

10 of the statute, which then gives rise to the claim under

11 41.700.  And that is because 453.331 specifies, "It is

12 unlawful to knowingly acquire a controlled substance by means

13 of," and then it lists a number of things, misrepresentation,

14 fraud, et cetera, or subterfuge, Your Honor.  And then we

15 provide you in our brief what the caselaw defines as a

16 subterfuge, Your Honor, and what does the dictionary define as

17 a subterfuge.  And it's simple.  Attempts to hide.  There's no

18 question here that the State was hiding.  In fact, they

19 essentially admitted it to Judge Wilson that they were hiding

20 it.

21 Now, there is no legitimate basis -- I mean, the

22 State, Your Honor, I would submit, needs to be held to a

23 little bit higher standard than just ordinary citizens.  But

24 there is -- under no circumstances is the State -- is it

25 appropriate to say -- to essentially say, well, we were hiding
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1 on this because we didn't want people to be able to have the

2 time to assert their First Amendment rights and petition the

3 court for redress.  And that's what we're here about now.  So

4 the timing issue, Your Honor, is purely of the State's making. 

5 The ACLU had asked for this information back in June, and the

6 State refused to provide it, which ultimately then resulted in

7 Judge Wilson's order coming out on Friday.  And we learned

8 about this because our client received a call I believe it was

9 technically Saturday morning by the time they found out about

10 it, early Saturday morning, that in fact Alvogen's product was

11 being used in this inappropriate means.  And then we, of

12 course, worked diligently over Sunday and Monday to get our

13 pleadings in order to file them yesterday.  And we appreciate

14 the Court hearing us.

15 So if the Court simply looks at 41.700, we have a

16 cause of action for any misuse -- for any misuse of a

17 controlled substance that causes us harm.  The common law, as

18 the Court knows, provides that even though the statute talks

19 about damages, remedies are deemed to be cumulative unless the

20 legislature expressly excludes them.  There's nothing in the

21 statute that precludes the common-law remedy of injunctive

22 relief when in fact monetary damages, Your Honor, would not be

23 adequate under the circumstances.

24 And just let me briefly touch on that, Your Honor. 

25 I don't believe that there's any monetary damage that would be
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1 available here.  We would have a difficult time calculating

2 those damages, and we would have a difficult time which the

3 Court would have in assessing what they would be in terms of

4 monetary damage.  What we are facing here is serious

5 reputational harm to our business and our business goodwill,

6 because this -- we are in the business -- Alvogen is in the

7 business of making and selling life-preserving medications and

8 drugs.  That's its business.  This use is completely

9 incompatible with that business and is completely harmful to

10 that business.  And again, we're not here passing judgment on

11 or asking the Court to address the merits of the death

12 penalty.  All we're talking about here is this particular drug

13 has been used, and we lay it out in the complaint and I don't

14 believe that it's even open to dispute, but it's been

15 documented in numerous media accounts, this particular drug in

16 its use in executions has resulted in some what the media has

17 characterized as botched executions.  An individual I believe

18 it was in Oklahoma after administered this drug woke up

19 halfway through the execution.  In other circumstances in

20 Arizona, Arizona I believe even stopped using it because it

21 resulted in the inmate gasping for air and suffering during

22 the process, and the execution lasted substantially longer,

23 multiples of what it was supposed to last.  And so this drug

24 is not approved for this use.  The FDA does not approve it for

25 this use, and we do not sell it for this use, and we do not
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1 allow it to be used for this use.  And the State knew that

2 when it decided to then go out and try and acquire it

3 surreptitiously.  Had it be forthright with his and had it ben

4 forthright with Cardinal, we would not be here, because there

5 would be no need.  Because they would have never acquired it.

6 So that is -- that is why we here, that is why we

7 are asking the Court for the relief in the form of a temporary

8 restraining order.  I understand what the arguments will be

9 from the State.  I recognize that, that Mr. Dozier has been on

10 Death Row for a number of years, I believe more than a decade

11 at this point, and that this process has gone on and this case

12 has already been up to the Supreme Court once; but it hasn't

13 been --

14           THE COURT:  Well, that was on a different issue.

15 MR. BICE:  Exactly.  That was -- and I wanted to

16 make that point crystal clear, because sometimes the public

17 doesn't understand that.

18           THE COURT:  That was on the cruel and unusual

19 punishment issue.

20 MR. BICE:  That is correct.  That is not on this

21 issue.  So I recognize the State's interest here, Your Honor. 

22 But, again, had the State simply followed the instructions and

23 not surreptitiously acquired this drug, we wouldn't even be

24 here.  Just like had the State disclosed back in June when

25 they were first asked about this, had they disclosed it,
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1 again, there would have been more than ample time for a full

2 evidentiary hearing about how they acquired it.  So now we're

3 having to ask the Court -- and I recognize that it's at the

4 eleventh hour -- 

5           THE COURT:  Well, I got this case yesterday about

6 1:30.

7 MR. BICE:  I understand that, Your Honor.  And we'd

8 worked diligently to get these pleadings in front of the

9 Court.

10           THE COURT:  So can I ask you a couple questions.

11 MR. BICE:  Of course, Your Honor.

12           THE COURT:  Other than the April letter, were there

13 any efforts by your client to make known to the Nevada

14 Department of Corrections your client's intent to preclude

15 them from using the medication if it was obtained by them?

16 MR. BICE:  Yes.  It was actually noted on the Web

17 page, Your Honor.  It's -- the markings on the company's Web

18 page specifically calls out that these drugs are not to be

19 used for that purpose and that the company would object to any

20 of their usages.  And we did, as laid out in the declaration,

21 Your Honor, and I think it's Mr. Harker's declaration, perhaps

22 Ms. Sweet's, but I believe that it was we looked at the sales

23 records and there was no indication that they had acquired any

24 when we originally looked.

25           THE COURT:  And that was the April time frame.
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1 MR. BICE:  Yes.  That is correct, Your Honor.  So

2 the State has been on notice since then, they knew about it

3 before they purchased the product, and, again, Your Honor,

4 this is -- I don't believe, frankly, Your Honor, that the

5 State could credibly -- and if they want to, then this just

6 highlights the need for an evidentiary hearing in the form of

7 a preliminary injunction, but I don't really think that the

8 State can credibly claim to the Court that it was not

9 intending to hide its acquisition.  It didn't want it

10 disclosed.  That's why it objected to Judge Wilson.  I mean,

11 they had ample time to disclose this, and we could have had a

12 full hearing well before today.  But, again, the timing is

13 purely of the State's making in this, Your Honor.

14           THE COURT:  And your complaint or your application,

15 I can't remember which, you make an allegation that

16 information was provided to Cardinal about a different purpose

17 for use of the medication.  Can you tell me where that is in

18 the evidence, because I couldn't find anything related to it.

19 MR. BICE:  Your Honor, what we believe -- what we

20 believe, and we are -- and we acknowledge to the Court we are

21 having to proceed on -- quickly on this because of what we

22 have found out, is when we -- as laid out in Mr. Harker's

23 declaration, Your Honor, when we started marketing this

24 product there were discussions with Cardinal about the fact

25 that we did not want it used for this purpose.  And we were in
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1 -- and Mr. Harker, as he testifies, Your Honor, in his

2 declaration, he understood that Cardinal was going to honor

3 that.  And we then formally were in negotiations to modify the

4 terms to make it clear, and Cardinal then would sign it at the

5 end of May, Your Honor, specifically acknowledging this is not

6 an allowed use.  So the reason that we say that, Your Honor,

7 is that Cardinal knew this was our objection.  And Cardinal, I

8 believe, Your Honor, back in even November of -- I apologize,

9 I don't remember, but there's a press statement that Cardinal

10 issued that says it expressly honors the manufacturer's

11 restrictions use and the FDA-approved usage.

12 So that's why we maintain, Your Honor, and we

13 happily acknowledge on this record because we don't yet have

14 discovery, that Cardinal would not -- had Cardinal been told

15 the truth about this usage we do not believe Cardinal would

16 have sold it to them.

17           THE COURT:  Based upon your contractual

18 requirements.

19 MR. BICE:  Based upon our discussions with them,

20 based upon the contract that we had with them, based upon our

21 Web page disavowing this particular use, and, again, Your

22 Honor, based on what we understood from actual discussions

23 that Mr. Harker had with Cardinal.  And again, the State had

24 it shipped to its general pharmacy -- 

25           THE COURT:  On Russell Road in Las Vegas.
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1 MR. BICE:  -- on Russell Road in Las Vegas, not to

2 the Ely State Prison, where the execution chamber is at,

3 giving all the appearances that this was being acquired for

4 appropriate FDA-approved usage, not for a usage that is not

5 approved and not for a usage that is specifically objected to. 

6 The State, Your Honor -- again, it's very simple.  The State

7 had the letter, it had notice.  If the State would have

8 disclosed its true purpose, the State knows full well it would

9 have never acquired the drug and we wouldn't even be here.

10           THE COURT:  I believe it's your complaint where you

11 allege that Dr. Azzam signed something that was sent to

12 Cardinal indicating the request for that.  That's what I'm

13 looking for.

14 MR. BICE:  Okay.  Your Honor, I'm actually going to

15 -- I'm going to have Mr. Schuler address that --

16           THE COURT:  Okay.

17 MR. BICE:  -- as property rights claims, and

18 actually I was going to turn it over to him shortly.  So I

19 will just do that now, Your Honor.

20           THE COURT:  All right.  I will wait.  No.  Finish

21 up.

22 MR. BICE:  And so what I want to be clear about,

23 though, is for purposes of a temporary restraining order, Your

24 Honor, we have shown that we have a claim.  I believe the

25 record establishes that we have a reasonable probability of
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1 success on the merits.  I don't believe -- if the Court has

2 questions about our irreparable harm, I'm happy to address

3 those; but I would submit that the type of reputational and

4 goodwill harm that is being proposed here is very serious for

5 a business, particularly a pharmaceutical company whose entire

6 mission and business purpose is to create and market and sell

7 products that are designed to enhance and prolong people's

8 lives.  And the use of those products to do the exact opposite

9 and then to have media coverage and their name associated with

10 this, particularly when this drug -- there is a risk of even

11 what's being characterized as botched executions is highly

12 harmful to any business.

13 With that, Your Honor, I'll turn it over to my

14 colleague.

15           THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Bice.

16 MR. BICE:  Thank you.

17 MR. SCHULER:  I want to again thank Mr. Smith for

18 the accommodation.

19 Your Honor, if I could approach with --

20           THE COURT:  Sure.

21 MR. SCHULER:  -- the decision from the Arkansas

22 court in the McKesson case.

23           THE COURT:  I read it.  It's attached to your brief.

24 MR. SCHULER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

25 So with regard to the Court's question our argument

23

APP0364



1 is that Dr. Azzam had tacitly represented by asking for it to

2 be delivered to the central pharmacy location that it was for

3 a legitimate purpose.  That is not a claim focused on here,

4 today, but that is an allegation in the complaint.

5 I want to focus on the property claim, the replevin

6 claim.  We think it is very straightforward in light of the

7 closest authority that we're aware of, which is the McKesson

8 case.  The salient facts of those cases are virtually

9 identical, which is notice to the State Department of

10 Corrections that they could not legitimately acquire the

11 product, a subsequent effort that was successful to acquire

12 the product, a demand for return that was not honored, and

13 continuing wrongful possession by the State Department of

14 Corrections.  So I --

15           THE COURT:  You offered to give them back their

16 money for anything they paid for the product.

17 MR. SCHULER:  Yeah.  And I think what's --

18           THE COURT:  Which looks like it's about 50 bucks.

19 MR. SCHULER:  That's correct, Your Honor.  And what

20 I think is salient about that is, A, the Department has not

21 taken us up on our demand; but, B, we didn't say, go to

22 Cardinal and get a refund.  We said, it's our property, give

23 it back to us, we will refund you so that you're made whole. 

24 And so vis-a-vis the State and my client, Alvogen, we

25 indicated to them we have superior ownership rights when the
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1 midazolam product is to be acquired by a prison system and

2 specifically for purposes of an execution, which is a use that

3 it's not permitted for.

4 So we think that's the closest authority.  We expect

5 the State to make an argument based on title, they got title

6 through Cardinal.  But, as we noted in our papers, Your Honor,

7 that requires under the UCC that they be a good-faith

8 purchaser for value.  Our contention is they at best had

9 voidable title, that Cardinal had voidable title to transfer

10 it, and under the UCC you have to be a good-faith purchaser

11 for value in order to get good title from somebody who has

12 voidable title.

13 Now, the case we cited to the Court, was is the

14 Tempurpedic case, is very similar again.  If you have notice

15 that somebody is restricting and not permitting the property

16 to be used for this particular purpose, you're not a good-

17 faith purchaser for value, because you're not exercising

18 honesty in fact.  That's the Tempurpedic that's cited in our

19 papers.  They also can't be a buyer in the ordinary course of

20 business, because they were aware by virtue of our April 20th

21 letters that we demanded that they return it, that they could

22 not purchase it either directly or indirectly, and they were

23 aware based on the Website indicating the same with regard to

24 the midazolam product.  That is Exhibit 5, Your Honor.  I know

25 there was a question about that.  That's Exhibit 5 to our
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1 papers.  And it prominently says when you go to the Website,

2 "Midazolam, this product contents box warnings, see full

3 prescribing information for this product."  Then says,

4 "Alvogen endorses the use of its products in accordance with

5 FDA-approved indications.  To this end Alvogen has undertaken

6 controls to avoid diversion of the product for use in

7 execution protocols.  In furtherance of this effort Alvogen

8 does not accept direct orders from prison systems or

9 Department of Correction.  In addition, Alvogen is working to

10 ensure that it's distributors and wholesalers do not resell

11 either directly or indirectly this product to prison systems

12 or Departments of Correction."

13 So we believe they can't qualify to obtain good

14 title, and that's the straightforward replevin claim.  I would

15 analogize this, Your Honor, to a felon who was given notice by

16 the State that they can't acquire a firearm legally.  They get

17 a letter, and then thereafter they go to a sporting goods

18 store, and they're told they're a felon, they can get it. 

19 They go to four more, and finally the fifth store doesn't ask

20 whether they're a convicted felon and they acquire the gun. 

21 Well, that's voidable title, because they're not a good-faith

22 purchaser.  They're on notice that they can't legally acquire

23 a firearm.  And the law is such that we don't need to wait

24 until that firearm is used in the commission of a crime to

25 institute forfeiture proceedings.  The doctrine of replevin is
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1 available to the manufacturer or to the sporting goods store

2 to get that property back, which furthers the public policy of

3 avoiding felons having firearms.

4 Now, I want to briefly mention, unless the Court has

5 any questions on replevin, one of our other predicate act

6 claims, which is under NRS 453.381.  And for purposes of the

7 hearing today we're only arguing this issue for purposes of

8 establishing a predicate act of unlawful conduct for purposes

9 of NRS 41.700.

10 Now, under 453.381(1) a physician may prescribe or

11 administer controlled substances only for a legitimate medical

12 purpose and in the ordinary course of his or her professional

13 practice.  Now, we're aware based on the execution protocol

14 and the press release from the State that there will be

15 someone who will be designated as the attending physician at

16 the execution.  Now, an attending physician as a matter of law

17 is a physician who is in charge.  They have responsibility for

18 the patient, they have responsibility for the administration

19 of any drugs to the patient.  That's the -- some of the

20 evidence we cited, Your Honor, was Center for Medicare and

21 Medicaid Services Glossary that's attached, as well, I

22 believe.

23 Now, the approved labelling for midazolam, which is

24 the Harker declaration, paragraph 6, lists the approved FDA

25 uses for midazolam.  And none of them involves execution.  And
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1 the evidence indicates that using a drug like midazolam, which

2 is a sedative that renders somebody unconscious, for such a

3 purpose is not a legitimate use for a controlled substance. 

4 And that's the AMA Code of Medical Ethics opinion that we

5 cited to the Court.  So, again, a straightforward violation of

6 NRS 453.381 that is imminent and we believe establishes a

7 predicate -- another predicate act of unlawful conduct for

8 purposes of the main claim, which is the 41.700 claim.

9 And unless the Court has any questions --

10           THE COURT:  I don't.

11 MR. SCHULER:  Appreciate the time.

12           THE COURT:  Thank you.

13 Do you have any more on your side?

14 MR. BICE:  No, Your Honor.

15           THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Williams, you're going

16 to come up, and then I think I'm going to get an objection,

17 and I'm going to hear it before you start talking other than

18 to say your name and who you represent again.

19 MR. WILLIAMS:  Fair enough, Your Honor.  Colby

20 Williams on behalf of Sandoz, Inc.

21           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, do you have an objection to

22 Mr. Williams speaking this morning?

23 MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor, I do.  Last night I

24 received an email from Mr. Williams at about 10 to 10:00.  I

25 didn't actually see the email till about 1:00 or 1:30 this
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1 morning, but then no motion to intervene, no complaint filed,

2 no separate application filed by Sandoz or Mr. Williams.  So I

3 object to him being in front of the Court this morning.  I

4 think it's procedurally improper.  I understand we're working

5 on a short time frame here, but that short time frame Mr. Bice

6 referenced, to the extent it even applies to him, certainly

7 doesn't apply to Mr. Williams and his client.  Cisatracurium

8 has been a part of the protocol for over a year.  I think the

9 first announcement of the use of that drug was August 2017 in

10 a press release where cisatracurium was notified to the public

11 as going to be used.  The protocol itself was released in

12 redacted form in September of 2017, which laid out

13 cisatracurium.  We had an evidentiary hearing in front of

14 Judge Togliatti where cisatracurium was the central issue in

15 that case.  We've taken a trip up to the Nevada Supreme Court

16 and back regarding cisatracurium, and during the entirety of

17 that time, over almost a year now, cisatracurium -- Sandoz sat

18 on its hands, didn't do anything, and didn't assert its

19 rights.  They would be joining a request for equitable relief. 

20 Equitable relief is subject to laches.  And so to the extent

21 Sandoz had any rights -- which I don't think Alvogen has any

22 rights, I don't think Sandoz has any rights, but to the extent

23 it ever had any it has slept on those, and at this late date

24 laches applies.  Federal Courts and State Courts apply laches

25 even to condemned inmates themselves when they raise
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1 constitutional claims too late on the eve of an execution.  So

2 a condemned inmate making cruel and unusual claims gets barred

3 by laches if they've slept on it and it's a pure transparent

4 attempt to delay an execution.  So a condemned inmate who's

5 actually going to be executed can't raise a constitutional

6 claim, a stranger manufacturer who has had notice of this for

7 more than a year certainly can't appear before Your Honor

8 today.

9           THE COURT:  Since those issues go to substantive

10 issues, I'm going to let Mr. Williams speak.  I do not know if

11 he's going to ask me to intervene for purposes of this

12 proceeding or not, but I let him speak.

13 Mr. Williams, you're up.

14 MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And sticking

15 with my preferred practice of being brief, we're here for a

16 limited purpose today.  We are not a party in this case yet.

17 But for purposes of today, Your Honor, I did -- when we were 

18 contacted by the client last night it advised me that it, too,

19 had sent a letter to the governor's office, the AG, and to the

20 Department of Corrections.  When I got a copy of that letter I

21 promptly forwarded it directly to Mr. Smith's email.  The

22 purpose for my appearance today, Your Honor, is to register

23 our formal objection and to ask the Court to include that

24 letter as an exhibit to this proceeding.  I don't intend on

25 making any further argument today, Your Honor, but I want our
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1 formal objection noted for the record.

2           THE COURT:  May I have a copy of the letter?

3 Mr. Smith, did you get a copy of the letter with the

4 email from Mr. Williams last night?

5 MR. SMITH:  I did, Your Honor.  I will add the

6 caveat, though, I don't recall off the top of my head, and

7 obviously I haven't had a chance to inquire whether any of the

8 entities Sandoz allegedly sent the letter to actually received

9 that particular letter.  I was able to do some quick checking

10 with regard to Mr. Bice's client, not Mr. Williams's client.

11           THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Williams, are these two

12 identical copies?

13 MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, Your Honor.

14           THE COURT:  I'm going to mark this as Court's

15 Exhibit 2.

16 MR. WILLIAMS:  That's all I have, Your Honor.

17           THE COURT:  Thank you.

18 Mr. Smith, that means you're up.

19 MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Your Honor.  For the record

20 again, Jordan Smith, Deputy Solicitor General, on behalf of

21 the Nevada Department of Corrections.

22 And I understand Mr. Bice and Mr. Williams's desire

23 to try and separate two issues here.  They claim this case has

24 nothing to do with the death penalty, but in the next breath

25 they argue, but we don't want to be associated with it, and
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1 the effect of this, let's not kid ourselves, will be to stop

2 an execution that's happening in less than 12 hours.  Vague

3 claims of reputational harm will be aimed at stopping the

4 State from carrying the most solemn of its duties in the

5 justice system.  And I'll detail all these issues, but I think

6 it's important at the outset to realize this, that a stranger

7 to the execution process with whom the Department of

8 Corrections has no direct contact -- Department of Corrections

9 didn't purchase the drug from the manufacturer, it purchased

10 the drugs from a third-party intermediate, Cardinal Health. 

11 So what we're doing here is a --

12           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, let me ask a question,

13 because I've got to stop you.  This is one of the problems

14 with video.  You can't see I'm trying to get your attention.

15 For purposes of this litigation is the State waiving

16 any cap on damages that are claimed by the plaintiffs?

17 MR. SMITH:  No, Your Honor.  We're not waiving --

18           THE COURT:  Okay.

19 MR. SMITH:  -- any aspect of sovereign -- well, let

20 me say this.  The State's not waiving any aspect of sovereign

21 immunity, whether 41.031 or .032.  So the State's not waiving

22 sovereign immunity.

23           THE COURT:  I'm just trying to make a record,

24 because that is part of my issue related to whether monetary

25 damages are sufficient.  Given the State's caps on damages, it
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1 creates certain issues for me in making that evaluation.  So

2 given your remarks, I had to make sure that you weren't

3 waiving that.  Thank you.  You may continue.

4 MR. SMITH:  Well, and, Your Honor, let me clarify. 

5 If that's going to be an issue of significance to you, I will

6 concede I've not discussed the waiver of the cap on damages

7 with my client before this hearing.  I don't imagine that we

8 would, but if that's going to be a dispositive [inaudible]

9 with Your Honor, before I unequivocally say that we wouldn't

10 waive that cap, I would like the opportunity to discuss that

11 with my client, in all honesty.

12           THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Do you want to

13 keep going with your argument?  And then you can talk to them

14 -- we'll take a short break after you argue to see if you need

15 to say anything before I hear from the plaintiffs on rebuttal.

16 MR. SMITH:  That would be great, Your Honor.  I'd

17 appreciate that.  Thank you very much.

18           THE COURT:  All right.

19 MR. SMITH:  So what we're witnessing here today,

20 Your Honor, is the newest, most novel attempt in the never-

21 ending saga to frustrate a state's ability to carry out

22 capital punishment through lethal injection.  My colleagues on

23 the other essentially concede that no state anywhere has ever

24 entertained a suit by a manufacturer directly against the

25 Department of Corrections to stop one of its drugs from being
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1 used in an execution.  Again, that's particularly odd where,

2 again, here there's no direct connection.  The State did not

3 purchase its drugs directly from Alvogen and instead went

4 through a third-party intermediary.

5 But an interesting fact that Mr. Bice glosses over,

6 and I'll walk through this in a moment, is that when the

7 Department of Corrections purchased the midazolam from

8 Cardinal Health on May 9th and May 11th there was no

9 enforceable contract precluding Cardinal Health from selling

10 midazolam to the State.  We'll see from the exhibits that

11 agreement was entered into on May 28th.  But regardless of

12 whatever their understanding was between Alvogen and Cardinal

13 Health, that had no binding effect whatsoever on the Nevada

14 Department of Corrections or even Cardinal Health at that

15 point.  Cardinal Health, in the absence of any contractual

16 agreement, was free to sell those drugs to the Nevada

17 Department of Corrections, and Nevada Department of

18 Corrections was free to purchase those drugs.  So they want to

19 characterize this and they want to conjure up between

20 independent facts some grand scheme, some conspiracy, some

21 subterfuge of the Nevada Department of Corrections snuck

22 around some controls, dipped and dodged and did this in the

23 dark of night in some smoke-filled room or something.  The

24 fact of the matter is at the time the Department of

25 Corrections purchased these drugs there were zero controls on
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1 Cardinal Health.  Zero.  Zero enforceable controls.  And in

2 fact any contract between Cardinal Health and Alvogen isn't

3 enforceable against the Nevada Department of Corrections.  If

4 Alvogen has a beef, it's with Cardinal Health, not with the

5 Nevada Department of Corrections.  But I'll walk through that

6 evidence with you.

7 But, again, make no mistake.  Mr. Bice wants to say

8 this isn't about stopping an execution, this is just about one

9 drug.  If the Court enters a preliminary injunction enjoining

10 the use of midazolam, there will be no execution tonight

11 absent some emergency motion by the Nevada Supreme Court.  So

12 they want to say this is just about a drug, but the effect of

13 their injunction will be to stay an execution.  And by statute

14 District Courts only have the ability to enjoin or stay

15 executions in six circumstances. 

16 I'll direct the Court's attention to NRS 176.415. 

17 I'll give you a second to get there, if you'd like.  But that

18 statute says, "An execution of judgment of death must be

19 stayed only in six circumstances, (1) by the State Board of

20 Parole Commissioners; (2) by the governor if the governor

21 grants a reprieve on the Constitution -- but as an aside, that

22 reprieve is limited to 60 days, I believe, after a direct

23 appeal -- (3) when a direct appeal from the judgment of

24 conviction or sentence is taken to appellate court -- we're

25 not dealing with a direct appeal here -- (4) if a District
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1 Court in the county where the prison is located -- so that

2 would be up here in Ely -- there's an investigation regarding

3 sanity or pregnancy -- that doesn't apply -- (5) if the judge

4 of a District Court when a motion is filed has to determine

5 whether the inmate is intellectually disabled -- that doesn't

6 apply -- and then (6) cites two statutes regarding genetic

7 marker analysis and a habeas proceeding.  So courts do not

8 have the ability to enter an order that will have the effect

9 of staying an execution aside from what's listed in 176.416. 

10 So this Court does not have statutory authority to enter any

11 order that would stay an execution.

12 The Nevada Supreme Court was quite clear to Judge

13 Togliatti the last time we were up there on the Dozier matter.

14           THE COURT:  I read their opinion to Judge Togliatti,

15 Mr. Smith.

16 MR. SMITH:  That's right.  That's right.  And the

17 Nevada Supreme Court was clear.  District Courts' inherent

18 authority in the context of an execution is severely

19 restricted if there is any left.  I think that opinion's quite

20 clear for the fact that courts are limited in the execution

21 context, whether it's under Chapter 34 or Chapter 176, to

22 exercise an only statutory prerogative, not inherent

23 authority.  That's where things got sideways in Judge

24 Togliatti's courtroom, was doing things under inherent

25 authority.  So under 176.415 those are the only instances a
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1 court may enter an order that would have the effect of staying

2 an execution, and a suit by a third-party manufacturer is not

3 one of them.

4 And there's also another practical problem on that

5 same front.  This goes to balance of the hardships a little

6 bit and public interest, but also goes to scope of this

7 Court's equitable authority.  The Nevada Department of

8 Corrections is currently an active warrant and order of

9 execution from Judge Togliatti.  It his a legal obligation. 

10 It has been court ordered to carry out an execution this week. 

11 If Your Honor prevents the State from using midazolam, it will

12 be stuck in a rock and a hard place.  Your order will put the

13 State in a Catch-22 where it can't use midazolam, but yet

14 Judge Togliatti's order requires the State to go forward.

15 Remember, Mr. Dozier is a volunteer.  He wants this

16 to happen.  And if the Department of Corrections can't carry

17 out Judge Togliatti's order, presumably Mr. Dozier could bring

18 a contempt motion.  So the effect of this Court's order, if it

19 issues one, would be to enjoin a lawful order from another

20 District Court judge in the Eighth Judicial District Court.  I

21 think there are a host of problems with that, and I think that

22 should act as a limit on this Court's equitable authority.

23 Our visiting counsel from out of state -- I can't

24 remember his name, I apologize -- relies heavily on the

25 Arkansas-McKesson case.  And it's true.  In the McKesson case
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1 a third-party distributer did get an injunction from an

2 Alabama District Court judge.  Alvogen is one step removed

3 from the third-party distributer in that case.  The third-

4 party distributer in McKesson actually had a contractual

5 relationship with the state.  That's why among other things it

6 brought unjust enrichment claim.  But my friend from out of

7 state doesn't reference the fact that the Arkansas Supreme

8 Court summarily reversed that preliminary injunction just

9 eight days later.  On April 28th, 2018 -- or 2017, I might

10 have the years mixed up, there was an emergency motion to stay

11 filed by the State of Arkansas, and the Arkansas Supreme Court

12 summarily reversed that.  I can send that order to the Court

13 if it would like to see that.

14 They also don't tell you about the District Court in

15 Arkansas that actually entered that order.  Subsequent to its

16 preliminary injunction the Arkansas Supreme Court removed that

17 District Court judge from presiding over any death penalty

18 cases because he was found to be -- have incurable bias

19 against the death penalty.  Of course, the judge then sued in

20 Federal Court, and the Eighth Circuit on July 2nd actually

21 said, no, the Arkansas Supreme Court was within its powers to

22 say this judge can't hear this class of cases for bias.  So

23 that's the type of District Court judge that initially bought

24 the type of claims that are being peddled to you today and was

25 summarily reversed by the Arkansas Supreme Court in short
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1 order.

2 Now I'll address the statutory claim they advance. 

3 And you'll notice they sort of abandon all the other claims

4 under Chapter 453 today.  They only point to one as a

5 predicate for a claim under Chapter 41.700.  And I think

6 there's a reason for that abandonment, Your Honor.  Under NRS

7 Chapter 453.281(3) the State has statutory immunity from

8 claims under this chapter.  453.281(3).  It says, "No

9 liability imposed by the provisions -- no liability imposed by

10 the provisions of NRS 453.011 to 453.552 upon any authorized

11 State officer engaged in the lawful performance of his or her

12 duties."  And that's exactly what we have here.  Every member

13 of the Nevada Department of Corrections during the actions

14 alleged here were carrying out their lawful duties to carry

15 out an execution under NRS 176.355.  That statute requires the

16 Department of Corrections and the Director to carry out lawful

17 sentences of death.  And that's exactly what's happening here.

18 So under 453.281 the State is immune from any claims

19 underneath that chapter.  And even with regards to 453.381,

20 which is the only one they're talking about here today,

21 they're asking this Court to find as a matter of first

22 impression that there's a private right of action, a private

23 right of action that would allow an injunction to be issued. 

24 No court has ever found that.  The Nevada Supreme Court has

25 never found that.  The fact that that is an unanswered
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1 question, counsels highly against the fact that they have a

2 likelihood of success on the merits of that claim.  So they

3 resort then to the Bilbao versus Wynn case, saying, well, you

4 know, based upon these factors you might find an implied right

5 of action based upon legislative intent.  I guess I'm a bit of

6 a throwback, Your Honor.  I think the best evidence of

7 legislative intent is the words actually used and enacted by

8 the legislature.  I think that's probably the best evidence. 

9 I know it may be not in vogue these days, but I think that's

10 probably the case.  And there's nothing in Chapter 453 that

11 creates a private right of action.  When the legislature wants

12 to create a private right of action it knows how to do so. 

13 You've seen it, I've seen it, it's in all sort of chapter

14 across the NRS that when a private right of action is there

15 the legislature says so.  And there isn't one in this case.

16 They acknowledge that the statutes benefit the

17 citizenry as a whole.  There's nothing that indicates that

18 manufacturers any unique standing.  And then they admit

19 candidly, which I can appreciate, that they're unaware of any

20 legislative history to the contrary.  In other words, the

21 legislature didn't even talk about creating a private right of

22 action under this statute.

23 What the legislature did do with regard to

24 injunctions, though, I'll point the Court's attention to NRS

25 453.276.  That provision limits who can seek an injunction
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1 under this statute.  That statute says, "Only the Board --" I

2 believe that's the Pharmacy Board "-- and the Attorney

3 General's Office may bring an action for an injunction which

4 would be a violation of the provisions of this chapter, and

5 that action must be brought in the name of the State."  If

6 you're looking for clues of legislative intent, the fact that

7 the legislature specifically said only the AG's Office or only

8 the Pharmacy Board can seek an injunction under the statute is

9 a direct indicator that they're excluding third parties.

10 I won't try to butcher the Latin phrase, but when a

11 statute says "includes a certain group," by definition it is

12 excluding everybody else.  And so the third-party

13 manufacturers here aren't entitled to an injunction under NRS

14 Chapter 453.

15 Other indicators, just so I have them on the record,

16 NRS 453.271 indicates who enforces the chapter.  If we're

17 looking for intent underlying the statutory scheme, it is for

18 the State to control controlled substances.  Enforcement,

19 distribution, control is for the State, not third parties.

20 An underlying conduct for the one statutory claim

21 that you hold onto this morning, that's, again, 453.381, about

22 whether a physician may prescribe or administer controlled

23 substances, they don't tell the Court about the next chapter

24 in the NRS, which is Chapter 454, NRS Chapter 454.  And that's

25 the specific chapter that deals with what medical personnel in
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1 the Department of Corrections can or can't do with regard to

2 medicines.  And I'll point the Court's attention to NRS

3 454.221(2)(f).  That provision in (1) says, "A person who

4 furnishes any dangerous drug except on prescription of a

5 practitioner is guilty of a Category B felony."  So it deals

6 with criminal punishments, just like Chapter 453 does.

7 But then if you look at section (2), it says, "The

8 provisions of this section do not apply -- do not apply to the

9 furnishing of any dangerous drug by," go down to section (f),

10 "a pharmacy in a correctional institution through a person

11 designated by the Director of the Department of Corrections to

12 administer a lethal injection to a person who has been

13 sentenced to death."  Chapter 454, the chapter that's actually

14 on point instead of the general Chapter 453 about doctors and

15 medical personnel generally, allows the Director of the

16 Department of Corrections to authorize a person to administer

17 a dangerous drugs for purposes of a lethal injection.  This

18 statutory provision authorizes what will happen later this

19 evening, Your Honor.  The Director has condoned all -- has

20 authorized all personnel, medical or otherwise, to carry out

21 the lawful sentence of a jury and the lawful order of Judge

22 Togliatti.  Additional authority is found in 454.213.  It

23 says, "Except as otherwise provided, a drug or medicine

24 referred to by definition may be possessed and administered by

25 (k) any person designated by the head of a correctional
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1 institution who in addition to the Director of the Department

2 of Corrections, the warden of the institution," in this case

3 Warden Gittere, who's with me here today, "has the authority

4 to authorize people to administer drugs in the correctional

5 setting."

6 Additionally, 454.215 says, "Authority to dispense a

7 dangerous drug," and then there's registered nurses, pharmacy

8 in a correctional institution, a practitioner authorized by

9 the Board, et cetera.  (7) a registered nurse employed at an

10 institution of the Department of Corrections to an offender in

11 the institution."  So these statutes allow for the procurement

12 of lethal injection drugs and the administration of lethal

13 injection drugs.  These are the specific statutes the Court

14 should look at, not the general statute in 453.  And these

15 statutes authorize the lethal injection process.

16 So it's not the case that medical personnel are

17 unlawfully obtaining, distributing, or using drugs.  This

18 process is controlled by law, and it's all authorized.

19 But even if you could get through all those hurdles

20 and there's still some fraudulent misrepresentation, some

21 grand plan on behalf of the Nevada Department of Corrections

22 to get around nonexistent controls, what are the alleged

23 misrepresentations?  With regard to NDOC -- from NDOC to

24 Alvogen there are absolutely none.  None of the declarants

25 highlight any misrepresentation or omission from the
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1 Department of Corrections to Alvogen.  At best they claim the

2 Department should have told Cardinal Health something.  But

3 there is no direct connection, no misrepresentation, certainly

4 not one pled with specificity as required in a fraud-based

5 claim between the Nevada Department of Corrections and

6 Alvogen.  There's no direct relationship.  Without a direct

7 omission to Alvogen or misrepresentation, there's simply not

8 even any standing.  I think standing is a big problem here for

9 Alvogen.  But there hasn't even been a fraud or

10 misrepresentation made to it.

11 At most we have the letter, the letter that Your

12 Honor referenced, the April 20th letter.  So what is the legal

13 effect of that letter?  Absolutely nothing.  A stranger to the

14 Department of Corrections wrote a letter to it, saying, we

15 don't like our drugs being used -- I'm paraphrasing, obviously

16 -- we don't like our drugs being used, so please don't try to

17 get them.  That letter didn't impose any legal obligation

18 whatsoever on the Department of Corrections.  They claim,

19 well, you should have told Cardinal Health that you got this

20 letter.  Well, as Your Honor knows, fraud-based claims based

21 upon omission, you can only instate one of those if you have a

22 duty to otherwise disclose the information you are not

23 disclosing.  That's a lot of Nevada Supreme Court cases.  The

24 1998 Dow Chemical case comes to mind.  You only have a duty to

25 disclose information -- to state an omission claim if it's
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1 imposed by law.  Well, where does that duty come from?  Not

2 the letter, not statute.  They've not identified any source of

3 a duty where the Department of Corrections had an obligation

4 to tell Cardinal Health they had that.

5 Cardinal Health -- again, back to these checks. 

6 They're claiming Cardinal Health, well, we don't like the

7 death penalty and so our third parties have all these controls

8 in place to make sure.  Cardinal Health had zero controls in

9 place.  They didn't ask why we were ordering it, they didn't

10 do anything.  And so let's talk about that.  And I'll walk you

11 through it.

12 In Exhibit 3, the invoices, you can see that the

13 Nevada Department of Corrections ordered midazolam on May 9th

14 and May 11th.  I'll represent to the Court that from the May

15 9th order we received the drugs the very next day, on May

16 10th.  And I'll represent to the Court from the order on the

17 11th we received the drugs on 5/14.  There's some reference to

18 an order on the 29th.  I have not been able to track that

19 down.  I've not seen an invoice.  I don't think an invoice for

20 the 29th is actually in the exhibits for their motion.  But

21 I'll explain that away in any event.  So the invoices in

22 Exhibit 3 tell you we ordered the drugs May 9th and the 11th

23 and got them shortly thereafter.

24 Now let's turn to Exhibit 1.  That's the declaration

25 of Mr. Harker.  That's at paragraph 10 in particular.  Mr.
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1 Harker avers at paragraph 10, "Thereafter Alvogen and Cardinal

2 amended their generic wholesale service agreement to include

3 sales under Alvogen's controlled distribution program

4 schedule."  In other words, Cardinal Health wasn't bound by

5 whatever that schedule was before the agreement on May 28th. 

6 So that agreement -- the restriction that Alvogen finally got

7 around to imposing on Cardinal Health didn't occur until well

8 after the Department of Corrections had ordered and actually

9 received the drug.  So whatever legal effect that -- the

10 controls or this agreement has as between Cardinal Health and

11 Alvogen wasn't even in effect at the time they got the drug.

12 So this whole action is -- and I think this is

13 partially what this litigation is about.  This whole action is

14 just PR damage control.  They told the world, we had all these

15 checks in place and got pressured by death penalty advocates

16 not to use their drugs in death penalty procedures, and they

17 assured the world, oh, don't worry, don't worry, we won't.  So

18 they couldn't even have one contract with their distributer

19 that said, hey, Distributer, don't sell this to the State.  So

20 without a contract Cardinal Health had no reason not to sell

21 it to the State, had no reason to even ask the State why it

22 was ordering it, and the State had no obligation to explain

23 its purpose.  And even afterwards, even with regard to the May

24 29th purchase, if it actually exists, that contract between

25 Alvogen and Cardinal Health had zero binding effect on the
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1 Nevada Department of Corrections.  So there's no plan to get

2 around controls, no subterfuge to dodge the long list of

3 failsafes that allegedly were in place by Alvogen.  They

4 didn't exist, certainly not with regard to Cardinal Health and

5 the Nevada Department of Corrections.

6 And let's talk about the other alleged subterfuges. 

7 One of them, much to my surprise, involved something I said to

8 Judge Wilson last week during the ACLU's public records

9 request.  And, frankly, I'm a little disappointed in Mr. Bice

10 the way he's sort of twisting what was said, or perhaps he

11 doesn't have the transcript.  I don't even have the order that

12 he gave Your Honor, so I'm impressed with his ability to get

13 something a party doesn't even have yet.  But if you look at

14 that transcript, the point that I was making citing Glossip

15 versus Gross, Bays versus Rees, and other Federal Court cases

16 was simply that under the Nevada Public Records Act there

17 could be a basis for the Department of Corrections to claim

18 confidentiality over certain documents and withhold them under

19 the Nevada Public Records Act.  That's what the scope of the

20 discussion was, that's what the point of the hearing was

21 about.  And I argued that perhaps given the short notice -- I

22 hadn't even reviewed the documents at that time, unlike Your

23 Honor, Judge Wilson set a conference call not to set a

24 hearing, but just to jump in the merits, much to my chagrin. 

25 So I was making statements at that hearing, saying, there
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1 might be confidentiality because the only valid reason -- and

2 the ACLU didn't deny this -- the only valid reason to get this

3 information is to then pressure drug manufacturers.  And I

4 said, the State has an interest under the Bradshaw balancing

5 test to withhold that information under the confidentiality

6 provisions of the Nevada Public Records Act.  The argument

7 was, ooh, we're hiding this information so the manufacturer

8 doesn't know.  The manufacturer by all accounts, based upon

9 the evidence submitted to you, didn't have any procedures in

10 place to figure it out that the Nevada Department of

11 Corrections had even ordered anything.  The Department of

12 Corrections had no reason to hide the sale from Cardinal

13 Health, no reason to hide the sale from Alvogen.  It had

14 bought it open and honestly, logged on and ordered it.  That's

15 the extent of it.  There was no hacking, no grand conspiracy. 

16 They logged on, ordered it, and it showed up the next day.

17 So to take my statements as saying we were trying to

18 hide it from Alvogen or other manufacturers is certainly not

19 the case.  It's disappointing he'd make that argument and

20 certainly try to put me in the middle of some fraud.  It just

21 doesn't exist.  Perhaps we can track down the transcript.  But

22 that's the extent of the argument, because that was the issue

23 there.

24 The next thing they said was, ooh, there's some

25 grand conspiracy because we shipped it to the Las Vegas office
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1 and not Ely.  That's where the Department of Corrections'

2 central pharmacy is.  That's where most drugs go in the

3 ordinary course.  Drugs rarely, if ever, go to Ely.  And I

4 understand these are factual questions, and I'm certainly not

5 trying to talk myself into an evidentiary hearing.  But that

6 is the fact of the matter, that most drugs ordered by the

7 Department of Corrections go to the central Las Vegas office. 

8 That wasn't some, again, smoke screen to hide what was going

9 on here.  The fact of the matter, there didn't need to be a

10 smoke screen, because Alvogen wasn't looking, Cardinal Health

11 didn't have an obligation to look, and had no obligation to

12 preclude the Department of Corrections from buying these

13 drugs.

14 I'll address -- and those arguments, of course, go

15 to the statutory claims under 453 and also the false pretenses

16 claim.

17 I'll touch on conversion and replevin just quickly.  

18 There's simply no property interest here.  You don't need to

19 get into the UCC to realize that Cardinal Health had purchased

20 the drugs from the manufacturer with the rights to resell

21 them.  Nevada Department of Corrections obtained title to the

22 drugs from Cardinal Health.  If anybody has a property

23 interest -- that's disputable.  Nobody does.  But if somebody

24 does, it's Cardinal Health, not the manufacturer here.

25 They're buyer in the ordinary course argument
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1 doesn't hold any water.  I submit that's why they buried in a

2 footnote.  The Department of Corrections was a buyer in due

3 course from Cardinal Health.  There's nothing untoward about

4 it.  There was no bad faith either by Cardinal Health or the

5 Nevada Department of Corrections.  They simply purchased it in

6 the ordinary course, like it does with any other drugs, and

7 those drugs were shipped to Las Vegas's central repository.

8 I'll touch briefly on sovereign immunity with the

9 understanding Your Honor will let me have a quick break to

10 discuss that one issue with my client.  But the State is

11 entitled to sovereign immunity under 41.031 and 41.032.  The

12 application for TRO doesn't discuss 41.032(1), which applies

13 to an officer exercising due care in the execution of a

14 statute or regulation.  Here, as I've already stated, the

15 Department of Corrections was exercising due care, carrying

16 out its statutory mandate to carry out a lawful sentence of

17 death under 176.355.  So they're entitled to statutory

18 immunity under subsection (1) of .032.  They're also entitled

19 to discretionary immunity under subsection (2) because of

20 discretionary function.  The Department of Corrections and its

21 employees exercised discretion, judgment, and choice in how to

22 obtain the drugs, where to obtain the drugs, who has access to

23 them, and how they are administered during a lawful lethal

24 injection.  Those are all covered by discretionary immunity. 

25 Again, a third-party stranger, a manufacturer, cannot overcome
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1 discretionary immunity on those issues, either.

2 Now I want to spend a few minutes talking about

3 irreparable harm.  Alvogen claims it's suffering irreparable

4 harm from being associated with an execution.  Well, a couple

5 points.  First, I think they've made quite clear, they point

6 to their Website, they point to other published statements,

7 and they point to this litigation, they want nothing to do

8 with the execution.  In fact, their claim in this case is that

9 somehow Nevada Department of Corrections stole lethal

10 injection drugs.  That's the essence of their argument.  So I

11 don't think any reasonable observer who believes that thinks

12 they are somehow acquiescing and wanting to be associated with

13 an execution.  And to the extent they have any injury it is

14 self inflicted.  Again, they didn't even have a contract in

15 place with Cardinal Health at the time to prevent the sale of

16 drugs.  So any reputational harm associated with selling to

17 state drugs that can be used in a lethal injection was caused

18 by their own lax controls that they like to tout about.  If

19 there's any negative association between midazolam and

20 executions, that ship sailed long ago.  The first use of

21 midazolam in an execution was in 2013 by the State of Florida.

22 Since then it's been used in approximately 32 executions in

23 six states.  Midazolam for better or worse is synonymous with

24 lethal injections.  If Alvogen didn't like that, they

25 shouldn't have started making a generic brand of it. 

51

APP0392



1 Midazolam has been used frequently -- as frequently as last

2 April by Alabama, who even since Alvogen started making a

3 generic brand in April of 2017, there's been four executions

4 using midazolam.  So to the extent there's any connotation or

5 connection between midazolam and lethal injection, that's

6 already in the public mind.  And so just like any other

7 business disparagement case where you're claiming harm to your

8 reputation, you have to show how this particular execution,

9 Nevada's execution, is going to cause you some different,

10 unique, or greater reputational harm that you haven't already

11 suffered by producing a drug that is used frequently in lethal

12 injection protocols.

13 Business disparagement cases, harm to business

14 reputation, those are compensable by monetary damages, but

15 don't constitute irreparable harm basis.  And I think also

16 their reliance on -- and I understand Mr. Bice tries to

17 undercut this by saying remedies are cumulative, but you can't

18 be on one hand arguing under NRS 41.700 that monetary damages

19 aren't going to be enough, give me monetary damages, I'm not

20 actually arguing the statutory claims under 453.  Those are

21 just predicates for my monetary claim.  It's difficult to say

22 to a court that, oh, I've got irreparable injury, money's not

23 going to be enough but yet pay me.  And we're talking about

24 whether there's going to be a waiver of a cap or not.  It's

25 difficult to make those arguments simultaneously. 
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1 And I think I disagree with Mr. Bice that he

2 definitely has a claim under 41.700.  I think if you look at

3 that statute the purpose of that statute is for people who

4 have been administered a drug, victims of drugs, drug

5 overdoses, not manufacturers.  I think if we look at the

6 legislative history there no one was concerned about drug

7 makers when they enacted that statute.  They were worried

8 about people who bought drugs from a drug dealer, overdosed,

9 and having a monetary claim.  That's what I think the

10 legislative history bears out with regard to that statute.  So

11 I don't think a manufacturer is within the class of persons

12 the legislature was concerned about when it enacted 41.700.

13 And again, without a predicate claim under 453, they

14 don't even have a claim under Chapter 41.  As I pointed out,

15 there's no private right of action.  Only the Attorney General

16 can seek an injunction or the Pharmacy Board, and there's

17 statutory immunity.  So you have to get through those hurdles

18 before you even talk about Chapter 41, and I don't think we

19 get there.

20 And finally we'll talk about the balance of the

21 hardships.  And I think this tilts strongly in favor of the

22 State.  As I've already said, there's no greater obligation,

23 more solemn obligation that a state has than carrying out a

24 capital sentence.  None.  I think we can all agree there's no

25 higher issue in the justice system than that.  And here we are
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1 talking about stopping that process based upon vague notions

2 by a third-party manufacturer that didn't have anything said

3 directly to it or admitted directly to it.  I think that would

4 be -- it's hard to overstate what we're dealing with here, and

5 I don't think a third-party manufacturer can get that done and

6 overturn that state's interest.  The U.S. Supreme Court in

7 Bays versus Rees and others state that, "The state has a

8 legitimate interest in carrying a death sentence in a timely

9 manner."

10 Mr. Dozier has been on Death Row for 10 years.  He

11 has willingly submitted to his sentence for almost a year now,

12 I think actually over a year, almost two years.  He's

13 willingly submitted to the judgment a jury of his peers

14 imposed upon him.  So I understand it's a little bit odd for

15 the Department of Corrections to be talking about Mr. Dozier's

16 interests, but I think that's something this Court should

17 consider.  Mr. Dozier has said goodbye to his relatives, he

18 has prepared himself for tonight.  By all accounts he wants to

19 go forward this evening, and that interest also will be

20 overturned by a third-party manufacturer, again, based upon

21 speculative claims of irreparable harm.

22 And just back on that, because I want to make sure

23 I've made my record on that, they've said, we've received bad

24 press reports.  Bad press reports.  That's what we're talking

25 about here.  Bad press reports.  They haven't identified one

54

APP0395



1 client, one customer who said, if you go forward with this

2 we're cutting off our contract.  They've not identified one

3 person, one entity who said, I'm not going to do business

4 with.  They haven't identified one person.  It's completely

5 speculative.  Customers -- we might lose customers.  They

6 don't like bad press, and they don't want bad press that

7 understands the fact that they were too inept to get a

8 contract with Cardinal Health to prevent what they're now

9 trying to undo.  That's the bad press they don't want.

10 Victims also have an interest in a timely

11 enforcement of a capital sentence.  State and Federal Courts

12 acknowledge that.  I'll point to one case, Ledford versus

13 Georgia Department of Corrections, a 2017 decision by the

14 Eleventh Circuit victims here.  Jeremiah Miller's family have

15 waited a long time for the justice system to carry out the

16 verdict that has been imposed here.  That is a strong

17 interest, as well, in addition to the State's and the

18 interests of the public in carrying out a lawful sentence.

19 Of course, anytime a state's ability to carry out

20 its statutory duty is enjoined it suffers irreparable harm. 

21 The U.S. Supreme Court has said.  For example, the new Motor

22 Vehicle Board case versus Orrin Fox, 1997, by Chief Justice

23 Rehnquist.  So the interests we're talking about here do not

24 get any higher, Your Honor.  I can't think of a greater state

25 interest, I can't think of a greater public interest.  In
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1 addition to the time and effort and expenditure of money at

2 the taxpayers' expense that has gone into this, I don't need

3 to tell Your Honor how much effort in the Eighth Judicial

4 District Court alone it has spent in overtime, staff

5 preparation to have staff available to deal with the execution

6 coming tonight.  And those expenses are not unique to the

7 Eighth JD.  They go all the way up the court system.  The

8 Nevada Supreme Court has personnel, time, and effort invested

9 in this, the Federal Courts do, the Ninth Circuit, the

10 District Court, and the U.S. Supreme Court are all standing

11 by, Your Honor, waiting to hear what this Court does.  Because

12 everyone wants to know whether the execution, the State's

13 highest obligation in the justice system, whether that's going

14 to go forward or not.  And we're here talking about that over

15 -- about stopping that over ambiguous and speculative

16 reputational harm.  I think that the balance of the hardships,

17 the public interest isn't even close in this case, Your Honor.

18 So unless you have any other questions, I ask that

19 the motion be denied.

20           THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Smith, how long a break

21 do you need to consult with your client?

22 MR. SMITH:  I'd ask for 10 minutes, Your Honor.

23           THE COURT:  So we'll take a 15-minute recess break

24 so you can also go to the restroom after your consultation.  I

25 don't know if you need to turn your line off or if you're
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1 going to go out of the room, but do that so we can't hear you

2 talking.  Okay?

3 MR. SMITH:  Very good, Your Honor.  Thank you.

4           THE COURT:  Jill's going to meet you on this end.

5 (Court recessed at 10:08 a.m., until 10:17 a.m.)

6           THE COURT:  Mr. Bice, did you email that to him?

7 MR. BICE:  Your Honor, we've been having trouble

8 getting this to work, and I've now got it, so --

9           THE COURT:  I understand the wi-fi in this

10 particular courtroom sucks because the vault is above you.

11 MR. BICE:  So I now have got it up, and I'm trying

12 to get it out to him right now, Your Honor.  My apologies.

13           THE COURT:  It's okay.  I'm going to ask him if he

14 got it when he comes back in.  So if you will please make sure

15 somebody on your staff sends it if you can't.

16  MR. BICE:  I sent it, but I'm not sure it's going to

17 go through.

18 (Pause in the proceedings)

19  MR. SMITH:  Your Honor --

20           THE COURT:  Yes?

21 MR. SMITH:  Would it be okay if I impose upon the

22 Court for about another five to ten minutes?  We're still

23 tracking down the necessary decision makers.

24           THE COURT:  Absolutely.

25 MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I apologize to everybody, and I
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1 appreciate the courtesy.

2           THE COURT:  Don't worry about it.  The air

3 conditioning is working down here, so it's okay.

4 MR. SMITH:  Luckily, it is up in Ely, too.  So thank

5 you.

6 (Court recessed at 10:20 a.m., until 10:27 a.m.

7           THE COURT:  So, Mr. Smith, I asked Mr. Bice to send

8 Judge Wilson's order to you.  He is not certain whether it was

9 able to transmit, because, unfortunately, the courtroom that I

10 am currently assigned to primarily use has a lot of problems. 

11 Did you get it?

12 MR. SMITH:  I did, yes, from Emily, Ms. Buchwald.

13           THE COURT:  So do you want a minute to look at that

14 before we continue?

15 MR. SMITH:  I'm ready to continue, Your Honor.  I'll

16 look at it during the rebuttal.

17           THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

18 MR. SMITH:  So I've had a chance to confer with the

19 client.  And to extent the cap is waivable -- and I've got

20 concerns about whether the cap is waivable.  That's something

21 I'm going to have to actually research.  But to the extent it

22 is waivable we are comfortable with waiving it.

23 I also want to address something that's kind of

24 implicit in Your Honor's question.  I mean, the purpose of the

25 cap was to protect the State from large damages awards.
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1           THE COURT:  You can't use cell phones to record

2 things unless you have a media request.  I will excuse from

3 the courtroom unless you put it away.  That was to you in the

4 back row, Miss.

5 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I was just trying to get

6 reception.

7           THE COURT:  That person was not trying to get

8 reception.  That person was trying to film.

9 Okay.  You may continue, Mr. Smith.

10 MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I thought for a

11 moment I was in trouble.

12 So the purpose of the damages cap, Your Honor, is

13 the shield the State from large damages awards.  So it's meant

14 as a shield for the State.  And so it's sort of the implicit

15 idea that it can somehow -- that the cap itself can then be

16 used as a sword as a reason to grant an injunction because of

17 irreparable harm.  I'm not sure that the cap can then be

18 turned around and used as a shield against the State.  These

19 are things I've got to look into.  I guess that's a long way

20 of saying that to the extent the cap is -- Your Honor finds

21 the cap waivable, we do waive it.  And, again, that would be

22 assuming that the Court doesn't find that the State is

23 entitled to immunity under 41.032(1) and .032(2).

24           THE COURT:  So, Mr. Smith, if I can summarize,

25 you're not sure the cap is waivable.  But if I think the cap
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1 is waivable, you're willing to waive it on behalf of the State

2 of Nevada.

3 MR. SMITH:  That's the long and short of it, Your

4 Honor.

5           THE COURT:  I'm not going to make the decision today

6 whether it's waivable or not, because it hasn't been briefed.

7 MR. SMITH:  Understood, Your Honor.

8           THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

9 Anything else that you wanted to add, Mr. Smith,

10 before I go to Mr. Bice and his team?

11 MR. SMITH:  Not unless Your Honor has any questions

12 for me.

13           THE COURT:  No, I don't.  How did the video

14 conference work from your perspective?

15 MR. SMITH:  I think it worked well.  Really worked

16 well.

17           THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

18 Mr. Bice, you're up.

19 MR. BICE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 Your Honor, this is not -- let me just try and deal

21 with these in order.  This is not a motion governed by the

22 statute about an injunction against an execution.  We are not

23 seeking to enjoin the execution, we're not seeking to enjoin

24 the death penalty in any fashion.  What we are, however,

25 seeking to do is an injunction against misuse of our product
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1 that the State did not legitimately acquire.  And with all due

2 respect to Mr. Smith's arguments, I think he has confirmed

3 just why the State did try to hide its acquisition of this

4 drug, why it didn't want it disclosed, why it never disclosed

5 it.  And contrary to his arguments, I think the evidence will

6 support with appropriate discovery that as soon as the State

7 received those notices from us they affirmatively went out and

8 purchased this product because they feared they wouldn't be

9 able to do so.  If they weren't trying to hide as Mr. Smith

10 says, then why didn't they tell Cardinal that they had

11 received these letters?  Why didn't they show anybody these

12 letters?  Why didn't they tell Judge Wilson they had received

13 these letters?  Why didn't they tell anybody they had received

14 these letters?  They didn't because they wanted to hide the

15 fact of why they were purchasing the drug, pure and simple.

16 And the State of Nevada comes in to the Court and

17 says, well, you know, we don't have any duty to disclose. 

18 Well, the minute someone comes in and tell you, we didn't have

19 a duty to disclose, they have confirmed that they were trying

20 to hide it.  And that's exactly what the law defines as a

21 subterfuge.  Mr. Smith's argument essentially boils down to

22 this, Your Honor, the State of Nevada is above the law, the

23 ends justifies the means.  According to him, the State's

24 theory is because if they break into our warehouse and steal

25 it we are somehow a stranger to this proceeding and therefore
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1 we don't have any ability to protect our product or our

2 reputation or what our product is used for.  And on that, Your

3 Honor, we submit he is just wrong on the law.

4 As we point out, we aren't running away from any of

5 our claims, contrary to his suggestion.  What we're pointing

6 out, however, is under the statute and the provisions that we

7 have been citing, Your Honor, it is unlawful, and under the

8 State law anyone has a claim for any injury over the unlawful

9 use of a controlled substance.  That is right in the statute. 

10 The statute is not restricted as Mr. Jones -- or, I'm sorry,

11 Mr. Smith would now like to rewrite it to say somehow, well,

12 it's only for people that unlawfully use drugs and then

13 overdose on them.  Not so.  What this statute actually

14 provides, Your Honor, 41.700, it's any unlawful use of a

15 controlled substance and someone who is harmed thereby.  And

16 the question then becomes is the State's use unlawful, did it

17 acquire it unlawfully.  Well, the State statute tells us that

18 anyone who acquires a controlled substance by subterfuge has

19 done so unlawfully.

20 Whether or not there is a private right of action

21 under 453.331 is irrelevant to that analysis.  Or whether or

22 not the State is, quote, "liable for money damages" under that

23 provision is irrelevant.  The question is was it unlawful to

24 acquire it in that fashion.  And again, Your Honor, we're here

25 on a temporary restraining order, and we're here on a
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1 temporary restraining order precisely because the State

2 attempted and desired to keep what it had done a secret.  And

3 only because Judge Wilson -- the irony here, Your Honor, is

4 the ACLU asked for this information back in June, and the

5 State told the ACLU, well, we can't get you that information

6 for 60 days.  Judge Wilson ordered it produced, and they

7 produced it in a matter of -- I think it was a matter of hours

8 after Judge Wilson ordered it produced.  So this story from

9 the State that they couldn't produce it wasn't accurate, they

10 wanted to hide it.  Otherwise, they would have just simply

11 acknowledged to everyone, here's our letters, we've received

12 this, but we don't believe that this is in any way binding on

13 us.  And had they been forthright with everyone, including us,

14 we could have been here, we could have had a full evidentiary

15 hearing long before today.  But the State didn't want to do

16 that.  And I would submit that is evidence in the typical case

17 of consciousness of wrongdoing.  They didn't want to do that,

18 so they kept it a secret as long as they could until Judge

19 Wilson forced their hand.  That right there, Your Honor, in

20 terms of the balancing of hardships tips decidely in our

21 favor.

22 Now, with all due respect to the State invoking the

23 interest of victims and the like, again, we could have had an

24 evidentiary hearing on this long before today, because the

25 State had purchased this product, as they now admit, clear
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1 back in May after they'd received notice.  And I do believe,

2 Your Honor, that discovery will show that they received that

3 notice and that's why they went out and purchased it, is

4 because they feared that they weren't going to be able to

5 purchase it in the future, so they acted so that they could

6 acquire it and then keep that acquisition concealed from us. 

7 Again, Your Honor, had the State simply forthrightly said what

8 was going on, told everyone the actual facts and events, we

9 would have had a preliminary injunction hearing, there would

10 have been an evidentiary hearing, and all of this could have

11 been resolved.  So for the State to now invoke the fact that

12 this is -- they've expended these resources and relying upon

13 the interests of victims as somehow justifying saying that the

14 balancing of hardship tips in their favor I think is just flat

15 wrong.  The State created this situation through it's lack of

16 candor and cannot now enlist the interests of other people to

17 somehow diminish their involvement in this.

18 So that met, Your Honor, turns us simply to --

19 another point he made is, you know, we don't -- he

20 characterized these drugs as lethal injection drugs.  They are

21 absolutely not lethal injection drugs.  And that's the point. 

22 This is a sedative that has an FDA approval for a specific

23 purpose.  And this is not one of those purposes.  They just

24 plan on misusing it, to our detriment.

25 That's why, Your Honor, we're here on a TRO.  We
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1 believe we have maintained, we have shown you that their

2 acquisition of this drug was by subterfuge, they admit that

3 they received the notice.  Mr. Smith's silence about whether

4 or not they disclosed that to Cardinal or to anyone else I

5 think speaks volumes.  It's a confession that they did not --

6 that they knew they had this information, they knew they were

7 not to be acquiring it for this purpose, they kept it a secret

8 so that they could acquire it, so that they could end-run our

9 restrictions.  That is the very definition of subterfuge.  And

10 I submit, Your Honor, that the Nevada Attorney General's

11 Office would prosecute criminally any doctor or other private

12 citizen that engaged in this very conduct of trying to acquire

13 drugs that you know and you have been warned you are not to

14 acquire for this purpose.  The State would prosecute a private

15 citizen on this.  And, contrary to the State's belief, the

16 State is just as much bound to the law as is a private

17 citizen.  And the State can no more violate the law than a

18 private citizen can violate the law.

19 And now to argue that, well, this execution is

20 planned for tonight and that there's a warrant by Judge

21 Togliatti, as the Court well knows, Judge Togliatti is in this

22 building after we have --

23           THE COURT:  Well, not today.  Not today.

24 MR. BICE:  Not today.  But after we have an actual

25 evidentiary hearing, which we believe we are entitled to, if
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1 the Court disagrees with us, Judge Togliatti can sign another

2 warrant.  It's not that difficult of a process.  Again, the

3 urgency here is of the State's own making.  The State is not

4 immune from this suit, because this is not a policy.  They are

5 not exercising judgment here.  They acquired this product in

6 an illegitimate means.  Again, Your Honor, to accept his

7 argument the Court would have to say that even if the State of

8 Nevada broke into our warehouse, took vials of this drug,

9 stealing it from us, that there's nothing that the Court could

10 do about their use of it.  Because this is being used in an

11 execution, they claim that the Court has no authority now to

12 enter any form of relief to my client.  That is simply not the

13 law and not the case.

14 Then we turn briefly, Your Honor, to their argument

15 that there's not sufficient evidence at this point of

16 irreparable harm.  That again, Your Honor, is self serving by

17 the State.  Mr. Smith says, well, where's the evidence of

18 clients not going to do business with you, where's any of that

19 evidence.  Mr. Smith's client kept this a secret from us until

20 Saturday.  We don't know why the -- it's like a defamation. 

21 You don't know why the phone doesn't ring.  So to say that we

22 need to rock-solid evidence in front of you of each somehow

23 person that's not going to do business with us because of the

24 State's antics is simply not a valid basis for denying us

25 injunctive relief.
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1 Your Honor, we actually pay our vendors, like

2 Cardinal, additional money not to allow this product to be

3 used for this purpose.  We obviously recognize that it's very

4 important to our reputation and to our business and to our

5 business goodwill that we protect this product from being used

6 for that purpose, because we actually expend money and

7 resources to do it.  The client is expending money and

8 resources with lawyers to be here today to protect itself and

9 protect its reputation.  So it obviously has a very good

10 reason for believing that the State's misuse of its product in

11 this fashion will harm it, will harm it's reputation, and will

12 harm its goodwill.  And on a TRO to come in any say because --

13 the State to brag that, we've kept it a secret for so long,

14 Your Honor, but they don't have the evidence in front of you

15 today is simply disingenuous.  The State is asking the Court

16 to reward it for its subterfuge, to reward it for its

17 concealment, and to reward it for its lack of candor.

18 And as Judge Wilson's order makes clear, they were

19 -- they did not want this information out because they

20 specifically feared that manufacturers who found out that they

21 had acquired this drug through in appropriate means would

22 object to that.  What possible State interest is there, Your

23 Honor, in the State concealing information so that citizens

24 don't exercise their First Amendment right to seek redress in

25 the courts?  There is none.  But the State is here bragging
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1 that that's what it did.  It's bragging about the fact that it

2 sought to deprive my client of its First Amendment right to

3 come into the courtroom and seek redress for this misuse. 

4 That right there, Your Honor, tells you where the equities tip

5 in this case.

6 At the end of the day, Your Honor, this is

7 reputational harm, it is a misuse of the product.  My client

8 is entitled to protect its interests, it's entitled to protect

9 against this, and discovery and the evidence, Your Honor, we

10 maintain is going to show that they got those letters and they

11 went out and acquired this product because -- specifically

12 because they wanted to get around any restrictions.

13 And to address his point that, well, the contract

14 wasn't signed with Cardinal until the end of May, well, first

15 of all let's be clear about something.  That is something --

16 the contract simply memorializes what our prior understanding

17 was with Cardinal and we were getting that into place.  But

18 that doesn't mean that we don't have rights against Cardinal

19 and didn't have rights against Cardinal at that point in time

20 just like we have them against the State now for circumventing

21 those restrictions. 

22 And, by the way, the State certainly has no standing

23 to claim whether or not our arrangement and our understanding

24 with Cardinal was enforceable at that time when they set out

25 to circumvent it, Your Honor.
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1 Now I'll turn it over to my colleague, Your Honor. 

2 But, again, we ask the Court very simply and straightforward. 

3 We are not seeking to enjoin any execution.  The State is free

4 to execute in accordance with the law any inmate that is

5 subject to that penalty.  But what the State is not free to do

6 is to go around secretly, circumventing my client's rights,

7 purchasing this drug, and then concealing it as long as they

8 could so that they could violate my client's rights when they

9 knew full well that they were not to acquire it for this end

10 purpose.  And I thank the Court for its time.

11           THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Bice.

12 Before I hear from the rest of your team I have one

13 more question for Mr. Smith.  My Post-It note got buried.

14 Do you recall, Mr. Smith, if this particular drug

15 was in the cocktail that was litigated before Judge Togliatti?

16 MR. SMITH:  I can definitively say it was not, Your

17 Honor.  The cocktail that was litigated in front of Judge

18 Togliatti involved diazepam.  Given the timing of the Nevada

19 Supreme Court oral argument following the evidentiary hearing,

20 the diazepam expired, and that's why the Department of

21 Corrections had to substitute midazolam.

22           THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

23 Now the last argument.  We are now on the "Our

24 Mission" sign.  Is that what you want to show me in Ely?  I

25 liked looking at Mr. Smith better.  Thanks.  All right.

69

APP0410



1 MR. SCHULER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

2 With regard to the McKesson case we're going to

3 supplement the record with regard to the allegations that were

4 made by the State that that judge was removed, et cetera, et

5 cetera.  That is true.  However, what the State did not report

6 is that McKesson went in and got a second TRO from a second

7 Arkansas judge.  That was not vacated by the state's Supreme

8 Court.  The case ended when the vecuronium bromide that was

9 the subject of that lawsuit expired just like the diazepam

10 that Mr. Smith just noted.  So that case is good law, as is

11 the Tempurpedic case.  I'll get to that in a second.

12 Now, I wanted to address a couple of the statutory

13 immunity sections that were addressed by Mr. Smith.  One of

14 them was 453.281(c)(3).  Now, what that provides, Your Honor,

15 is that there's immunity with regard to those sections of 453

16 for the lawful performance of a state official in their

17 duties.  But the very predicate for our arguments is that

18 these are unlawful by virtue of the actions taken by the State

19 and the other defendants.

20 The other thing I'll note is that it only applies to

21 state, county, or municipal officers.  What I addressed to you

22 earlier today is the attending physician, who is not an

23 officer of any municipality or state that I'm aware of.

24 The third thing I'll note is that, again, our

25 argument is that the performance of -- even it did apply, it's
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1 not lawful and therefore wouldn't apply.

2 He also cited a statute that indicates that a

3 pharmacy in a prison system can have a dangerous drug.  Well,

4 again, the pharmacy is not the attending physician.  And

5 that's the claim that we addressed here this morning.  In

6 addition, it says "dangerous substance," it doesn't say

7 "controlled substance."  And as the Court is well aware, those

8 are two different terms and the Court has an obligation to

9 construe both statutes so that they're -- give meaning to both

10 statutes.  And there are different terms, and therefore I

11 don't think that the statute that Mr. Smith cites has any

12 applicability to the claim against John Doe I, who's the

13 attending physician, who would not qualify for any of those

14 [unintelligible].

15 Now, on the replevin case, even if McKesson, which

16 we think is the most apt circumstances -- as I said, there was

17 a second TRO, so I don't think the fact that the judge -- the

18 first judge was removed has anything to do with the merits --

19 but the Tempurpedic case, which Counsel didn't address,

20 likewise says -- he says, well, we got it from Cardinal.  But

21 we already addressed that argument.   Tempurpedic was an

22 action in replevin against a fifth-down-the-line purchaser. 

23 But the court found that because they had constructive notice

24 that they couldn't acquire the product in the manner that they

25 did, they could not acquire good title.

71

APP0412



1 And let's recall how this all started.  April 20th,

2 2018, my client unambiguously told the State, you may not --

3 we won't sell this drug to you directly and we have controls

4 in place that we direct our intermediaries not to sell it to

5 you, as well, and you may not use, we object to your using it

6 for the purpose of execution.  So they were aware.  And if you

7 have it, give it back to us and we, not Cardinal, will issue

8 you a full refund.  That is an indication of superior

9 ownership rights of which they were on notice.  And under the

10 UCC they cannot acquire the title Mr. Smith indicates that

11 they think they acquired.  That's the Tempurpedic case.

12 Lastly, as my colleague indicated, the contract was

13 effective May 28th.  Mr. Smith I think acknowledges that once

14 that was effective that he could not obtain good title.  But

15 remember, the payment -- which, remember contracts, you have

16 to have consideration -- offer, acceptance, consideration to

17 have a contract.  The consideration was not to be paid

18 until --

19           THE COURT:  We know about contracts in Business

20 Court, Counsel.  You don't have to tell us.

21 MR. SCHULER:  So in June the payments were to be 

22 made.  That's after the May 28th restriction was put into

23 place.  So that -- we believe they were on notice of our

24 superior ownership rights, they attempted to take title in

25 violation of those rights, and under the doctrine of replevin
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1 we should be able to get it back.

2           THE COURT:  Thank you.

3 Is there anything else to be submitted?  We're going

4 to be in recess until 11:05.  I have a conference call at

5 11:00 o'clock on another case, and I have to go finalize my

6 notes before I tell you what my ruling is.

7 (Court recessed at 10:49 a.m., until 11:05 a.m.)

8           THE COURT:  Back to Business Court.

9 Where's Jordan Smith?  I need Ely State Prison.

10 Jordan, are you still there?  Sorry for the delay,

11 guys.

12 MR. SMITH:  No problem, Your Honor.  We're here.

13           THE COURT:  First I want to compliment counsel on

14 the arguments that you made.  I know that this was set on 

15 very short notice, since I was reassigned the case yesterday

16 afternoon.

17 First, the determination that I'm making today and

18 the issues that have been presented to the Court are not an

19 issue of a stay of an execution.  The issue presented here is

20 the plaintiff's right to decide not to do business with

21 someone, including the government, especially if there's a

22 fear of misuse of their product.

23 The plaintiff has a reasonable probability of

24 success of establishing the State knew its intended use of

25 midazolam was not one approved by the FDA.
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1 Given the April letter, plaintiff has a reasonable

2 probability of success in establishing the State was not a

3 BFP.

4 NRS 41.700 does not preclude an action for damages

5 by the plaintiff.  The plaintiff has established a reasonable

6 probability that it will suffer damages to its business

7 reputation which will impact investor relations and customer

8 relations.

9 The plaintiff has a reasonable probability of

10 establishing claims under replevin and NRS 41.700.

11 It is unclear to the Court at this time whether the

12 State would have immunity for any monetary damages for the

13 claims being made by plaintiff in this case.  If the State is

14 permitted to use the midazolam manufactured by plaintiff,

15 plaintiff has shown a reasonable probability it will suffer

16 irreparable damages, including damages to its business

17 reputation.

18 The State is therefore restrained and enjoined from

19 using or disposing of the midazolam manufactured by plaintiff

20 pending further order of this Court.

21 I am not making any order with relationship to the

22 cisatracurium manufactured by Mr. Williams's client, Sandoz,

23 Inc., because that product was part of the original cocktail

24 that was dealt with by Judge Togliatti.

25 Mr. Smith, do you want me to require a bond?
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1 MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor, we would.  Given the

2 expenses of training staff, preparation, overtime that's

3 required to prepare for these things, if your injunction's

4 overturned, all of that will have to be repeated at

5 substantial expense, and so I would ask for a bond anywhere

6 between $100,000 and $200,000, Your Honor.

7           THE COURT:  Mr. Bice, do you want to speak to the

8 bond?

9 MR. BICE:  Yes, Your Honor.  We would oppose on that

10 amount, Your Honor.  I'll explain why.  We understand that

11 there has to be a bond, but, as I indicated before and I don't

12 believe it's seriously disputed, that the State has known

13 about this and that the need for the urgency on this is

14 because the State did not disclose and circumvented our

15 restrictions.  Had the State been candid with everyone and

16 just admitted this is what it had done, we could have had a

17 hearing, a full evidentiary hearing, there would be no need

18 for a temporary restraining order.  So that expense that is

19 associated with is not a product of my client's actions, it's

20 a product of the State's actions.  I believe that a nominal

21 bond not to exceed $5,000 would be the appropriate bond on a

22 matter of this nature, Your Honor.

23           THE COURT:  I'm going to set the bond in the amount

24 of $10,000.

25 Mr. Smith, Mr. Bice, do you wish to do any discovery
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1 prior to me setting a preliminary injunction hearing?

2 MR. BICE:  Yes, Your Honor.

3           THE COURT:  What discovery do you want to do?

4 MR. SMITH:  Your Honor, may I be heard on that

5 really quick, Your Honor?  We would ask Your Honor to treat

6 your TRO as a preliminary injunction.  Given the urgency of

7 this, we'd like to take an emergency appeal to the Nevada

8 Supreme Court and try to get that done --

9           THE COURT:  No, I'm not going to treat it as a

10 preliminary injunction.  There are different burdens on a TRO

11 and a preliminary injunction, and typically on a preliminary

12 injunction I hear actual testimony and evidence.

13 So do you want to do any discovery before I schedule

14 the preliminary injunction hearing?

15 MR. BICE:  And we do, Your Honor.

16           THE COURT:  What discovery would you like to do, Mr.

17 Bice?

18 MR. BICE:  We would like to obtain documentation,

19 Your Honor, including internal emails, text messages, and

20 other forms of communication between anyone at the State that

21 was involved in this decision, who received our

22 correspondence, and then who made the activities surrounding

23 the acquisition of the drugs from Cardinal.  And then we would

24 like the depositions of those people, Your Honor.

25           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, how long will it take you to
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1 identify that information and produce it and make those

2 witnesses available for deposition?

3 MR. SMITH:  I don't have a time frame, Your Honor,

4 especially given the circumstances and considering what from

5 an appellate standpoint we might be doing before the warrant

6 expires at the end of this week.  It certainly can't be done

7 this week.  I've got to look and do some investigation on my

8 own and see how many people we're talking about and what that

9 might entail.

10           THE COURT:  All right.  In addition to what Mr. Bice

11 has requested, which is essentially ESI related to the letters

12 and the acquisition of the midazolam is there any discovery

13 you would like to do, Mr. Smith, before I schedule the

14 preliminary injunction hearing?

15 MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  We'd like to conduct

16 substantial discovery regarding Alvogen's reputation.  They're

17 claiming damage to reputation, so we're going to do

18 significant discovery into what that reputation entails with

19 various industry actors, with regard to their knowledge of

20 their use of midazolam in other executions and in other

21 industries, for example, palliative care or assisted suicide,

22 things of that nature that their drugs are used in that may

23 bear upon their reputation.  So there's going to be

24 significant discovery into their reputation that's going to

25 need to be had.
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1           THE COURT:  So you want to do all that before I

2 schedule a preliminary injunction hearing?

3 MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor, we would.

4           THE COURT:  Okay.  So it sounds to me like that's

5 going to be about 120 days' worth of discovery between what

6 the two of you want to do.  Since this was a temporary

7 restraining order that was issued with notice after the

8 opportunity of both sides to be heard, I can extend the

9 effectiveness of this TRO through the end of the preliminary

10 injunction hearing.  But that's going to be several months

11 given the discovery that the two of you have advised me you

12 want to do.

13 MR. SMITH:  And again, Your Honor, I understand

14 that.  I would reiterate my request to treat this as a

15 preliminary injunction so we can take an appeal.  Given the

16 gravity of the interests at stake here -- Your Honor didn't

17 make a ruling on the balance of the State interests.  Given

18 what we're talking about, what we're dealing with here, we

19 think an immediate appeal is appropriate in this case, Your

20 Honor.  So I would urge you to allow us to do that.

21           THE COURT:  So, Mr. Smith, the reason I won't is

22 because there is a different standard on a preliminary

23 injunction than a TRO.  Typically I hear evidence and

24 witnesses at a preliminary injunction hearing.  I'm happy to

25 do that on a expedited basis.  But the fact that you have both
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1 asked for discovery and the discovery you've asked for is

2 rather extensive, I can't schedule an immediate hearing

3 because of the discovery you want to do.  If you tell me you

4 want to do some more limited discovery before I do the --

5 MR. SMITH:  Well, Your Honor, I --

6           THE COURT:  Wait.  You've got to let me finish, Mr.

7 Smith.  I know because you're on video you can't see that I'm

8 still talking.

9 MR. SMITH:  I apologize.

10           THE COURT:  But, you know, given the amount of

11 discovery that you told me you want to do, I can't make you do

12 it faster than 120 days unless you think there's some miracle

13 that's going to occur identifying all those industry experts

14 and getting depositions.

15 MR. SMITH:  Your Honor, I understand.  But I don't

16 think it's accurate to blame this delay upon the State here. 

17 The State -- the delay for the preliminary injunction hearing

18 isn't because of the discovery the State wants to seek, it's

19 the nature of the claims that have been brought.  So if the

20 State doesn't do the adequate discovery to defend itself

21 against reputational claims, then I don't see the scope of

22 discovery being the State's fault in when the preliminary

23 injunction gets set.  It's the nature of the claims that

24 plaintiff has brought.

25           THE COURT:  I certainly understand that.  And if we
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1 were talking about advancing the trial to the date of the

2 preliminary injunction hearing, I would absolutely agree with

3 you.  But I don't think it's appropriate under the

4 circumstances here to advance the trial to the day of the

5 preliminary injunction.  So if you guys want to rethink and

6 can give me a better timeline on what discovery you really

7 want to do before a preliminary injunction hearing, I can

8 schedule it as early as next week.  I just need you to tell me

9 how long it's going to take to do what you need to do before

10 you're ready.

11 You want a minute to talk to your people?  Your

12 people want to talk to you.

13 So I'm going to step out of the room.  Everybody

14 talk among yourselves quietly.

15 Let me know when you've finished, Mr. Smith.

16 MR. SMITH:  Well, Your Honor, just to be clear, I

17 don't need to confer with anybody.  I think the scope of

18 discovery I've set is unavoidable.  So if Mr. Bice needs to

19 confer, I understand, but from our standpoint I don't think

20 that there's any avoiding the discovery that needs to be done

21 here given the nature of the claims.

22           THE COURT:  Okay.  Then I'm going to set a status

23 check in 60 days to check on how you've done on your

24 discovery.  Since there is not going to at this point be an

25 answer and I'm not scheduling a Rule 16, I'm going to let you
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1 manage the limited discovery that has been identified for

2 purposes of the preliminary injunction on your own.

3 If there is motion to dismiss practice that needs to

4 occur on a parallel track, I will be happy to entertain that. 

5 If the State answers and there is a Rule 16 conference that is

6 required, we will do that on a parallel track, as well.

7 MR. BICE:  Your Honor, there's one additional -- I'd

8 like to add on the --

9           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, did you have something else?

10 MR. SMITH:  I'll wait for Mr. Bice.  It's fine.

11           THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Bice.

12 MR. BICE:  Yes.  Your Honor, we would like discovery

13 surrounding John Doe I, the attending physician, because

14 that's also part of our claim.  We don't know who that is. 

15 And then we would obviously want the ESI-related discovery

16 concerning that individual, as well as a deposition.

17           THE COURT:  Okay.

18 MR. BICE:  Thank you.

19 MR. SMITH:  We obviously will have discovery

20 disputes on that, I'm sure.

21 There's a point I wanted to raise, Your Honor, just

22 so I don't anybody unaware.  I need to do some assessing based

23 upon my notes of the Court's ruling.  There may be an argument

24 to be made.  Just so everyone's aware that you know -- you're

25 characterizing it as a TRO, but it does constitute a
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1 preliminary injunction.  And if that's the case, I think that

2 order will be appealable.  So that's just something we'll be

3 looking into.  I want to take the Court or the parties unaware

4 on that front.

5           THE COURT:  Mr. Smith, it won't bother me if you go

6 to the Supreme Court on a writ.  It doesn't bother me.  I'm

7 used to writs being taken.  It's one of those things I've

8 become used to as part of my Business Court practice.  So

9 please feel free to exercise any remedies that you think are

10 appropriate.

11 I am handwriting in on the draft TRO that Mr. Bice

12 provided that the TRO will remain in effect pending the

13 preliminary injunction hearing completion, because that was

14 not included in here.  And since I am setting a status check

15 in 60 days, rather than setting the hearing now given the

16 discovery that has been requested by the parties, I cannot

17 fill in the blanks that Mr. Bice had given me for the

18 preliminary injunction.

19 All right.  Anything else?  Mr. Bice?

20 MR. BICE:  So we just cross those out, Your Honor?

21           THE COURT:  I am working on it, Mr. Bice.

22 MR. BICE:  Understood.

23           THE COURT:  Dulce, what's that date in 60 days?

24           THE CLERK:  Will it be oral or chambers?

25           THE COURT:  Oral.
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1           THE CLERK:  That'll be September 10th at 9:00 a.m.

2           THE COURT:  And I would really like you guys to give

3 me a status report on the discovery at that time so I can make

4 a determination as to where to place you on my calendar.

5 MR. BICE:  Understood, Your Honor.

6           THE COURT:  Anything else, Mr. Smith?

7 MR. SMITH:  No, Your Honor.

8           THE COURT:  All right.  Have a nice day.  Thank you.

9 MR. BICE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

10 THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 11:17 A.M.

11 * * * * *
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Las Vegas, NV, Wednesday, July 11, 2018 

[Hearing commenced at 1:14 p.m.] 

 

   THE COURT:  Hello.  Good afternoon. 

   MR. SMITH:  Hello. 

   THE COURT:  Mr. Smith? 

   MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I’m here with Ann McDermott and with us 

is Thom Ericsson also.  We’re in a conference room at Ely State Prison. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Anthony is on the phone? 

   MR. ANTHONY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

   THE COURT:  Yes? 

   MR. ANTHONY:  This is David Anthony.  Yes, Your Honor. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  Is there anyone else we should have 

here? 

   MR. SMITH:  Jonathan Vanboskerck I believe was going to 

join us, Your Honor. 

   THE COURT:  From Las Vegas or calling in? 

   MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

   MS. McDERMOTT:  Calling in. 

   THE COURT:  Not Mr. Pesci from Ely State Prison? 

   MR. SMITH:  I don’t believe at all. 

   THE COURT:  Okay. 

[Pause in the proceedings] 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Hello. 

   THE COURT:  Hello. 
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   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Hello.  Sorry.  This is Jonathan 

Vanboskerck.  Sorry to make everyone wait.  I didn’t see the email come 

through.  I apologize. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So if everybody could again state in on 

the line. 

   MR. SMITH:  This is Jordan Smith for the Nevada Department 

of Corrections. 

   MS. McDERMOTT:  Ann McDermott, Nevada Department of 

Corrections. 

   MR. ERICSSON:  Thom Ericsson here. 

   MR. ANTHONY:  David Anthony from the Federal Public 

Defender’s Office for Mr. Dozier. 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Jonathan Vanboskerck with the DA’s 

office. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So this is Jennifer Togliatti.  I asked my 

law clerk to send an email to attorneys for NDOC to advise me if after 

the ruling of Judge Gonzalez which was widely reported in the media 

change anything from my perspective as far as being, you know, on 

stand-by to let us know if it wasn’t going forward; meaning us, being my 

department.  And I was advised that the Department of Corrections 

requested this phone conference, so here it is. 

   MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  This is Jordan Smith on 

behalf of Nevada Department of Corrections.  So, Your Honor is correct 

that this morning Judge Gonzalez’ temporary restraining order enjoining 

the corrections from using Midazolam in the lethal -- in lethal injections 
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on Dozier’s execution [indiscernible] by further order of the Court.  

Because of that ruling, now NDOC is [indiscernible] two Court orders. 

   I have Your Honor’s order of execution requiring that 

Department of Corrections to go forward with an execution some time 

during the week [indiscernible] while simultaneously having an order 

from Judge Gonzalez that precludes us from using Midazolam which is 

part of the -- the protocol and part of the three drugs that were going to 

be used. 

   Based upon the advice of medical folks here, they do not 

support going forward at this time with just Fentanyl and Cisatracurium.  

And so to avoid being in contempt of your order or for anything of that 

nature because we don’t have the ability to carry out an execution this 

week, we ask that you lift or vacate your order of execution.  We’ll note 

that the execution warrant itself contemplates this.  I mean, as I believe 

the agreement between the District Attorney’s Office and Mr. Dozier was 

that he would suspend his habeas provided we have the -- that NDOC 

has the ability to carry it out. 

   NDOC no longer has the ability to carry it out and so I 

presume, I’ll Mr. Ericsson speak to that, but I presume they want to 

reinstate habeas given the circumstances.  But for NDOC’s purposes, 

we would ask Your Honor to lift and vacate the order of execution 

requiring the execution to proceed this week. 

   THE COURT:  So as opposed to -- I think we had talked about 

the language of the pre-prepared order was more of a stay language, if I 

recall correctly.  I mean I have it here.  Hold on one moment.  And you’re 
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asking for some different order, you mean phrased differently or would 

that suffice until further order of the Court? 

   MR. SMITH:  I think perhaps temporarily that could suffice, 

Your Honor, I guess.  That order was drafted by Mr. Vanboskerck sort of 

contemplating if Mr. Dozier would be the one changing his mind.  I think 

at that time no one was really foreseeing this circumstance.  I know I 

certainly wasn’t.  And so I think we would request -- I mean unless 

there’s a logistical issue with Your Honor, we would request that the 

Court vacate the order -- vacate the order instead of just staying the 

order. 

   There’s going to be significant proceedings going on in front of 

Judge Gonzalez and likely appeals after that.  I don’t think a stay 

personally in light of 176.415, I’m not sure a stay is the language that we 

would like to use in these circumstances.  We would prefer vacating or 

lifting the order of execution. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So starting with Mr. Ericsson; any 

comments? 

   MR. ERICSSON:  I have not spoken with Dozier yet about any 

of this.  I arrived at the prison here approximately 30 minutes ago.  I’m 

going to be seeing him here I would imagine in the next hour or so. 

   I am certainly not objecting to whatever language you grant 

that the Department of Corrections decides as far as the order at this 

point.  I do agree that it should not be -- execution should not go forward 

under these circumstances. 

   THE COURT:  So what’s the DA’s position on the order and 
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the language and the circumstances? 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Honestly what I’m trying to do right 

now is look up the -- the statute to see what language is used in the 

statute.  My preference would be that we track, you know, if the statute 

says stay, you know, track the language of the statute that contemplates 

if the Court knows of a legal reason why the execution should not go 

forward that would be request. 

   THE COURT:  Well, on page 3 of your proposed stay order, it 

says, lines 3 and 4, whereas petitioner has now expressed a clear and 

unambiguous statement that he desires to pursue habeas relief.  And I 

think what Mr. Smith was alluding to earlier was that the agreement 

between the State and the Defendant was that he could pursue habeas 

relief in the event the State -- I mean, the Department of Corrections 

was unable to go forward. 

   So they now said they’re unable to go forward and the terms 

of the stipulation are that he would be allowed to pursue habeas relief.  

And so perhaps the stay in light of the -- I mean that the entire hour and 

some odd long phone conversation we had last time was all about the 

stipulation between the parties and me just being me the enforcer of the 

stipulation. 

   Now -- now it appears that the stipulation cannot be affected 

and the terms of the stipulation was that if it couldn’t be affected, he 

would then pursue habeas.  He can always give that back up, you know, 

give that right back up and reenter the stipulation or adjust the 

stipulation or amend it or do whatever he wants to.  My question would 
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be what is the problem with signing the stay for today, this minute, 

having it filed, and then entering an order vacating ‘cause it’s not going 

to happen by the end of the week according to the Department of 

Corrections. 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  I have no objection to you staying the 

order in terms of whether Mr. Dozier wants to withdraw; that’s more of a 

question for Mr. Ericsson. 

   THE COURT:  Right.  And he’s not probably going to be able 

to do that, you know, immediately. 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Yeah. 

   THE COURT:  And so my thought was enter a stay before 8 

p.m. and then the order vacating the request could be addressed, you 

know, in writing that you can all look at in advance and have, you know, 

no rush between now and 5 p.m. or whatever to -- to approve language 

that you may or may not agree to. 

   MR. SMITH:  Your Honor, this is -- this is Jordan Smith.  

Given the timing and logistical issues, I think that would be fine entering 

a stay for purposes of today and then addressing vacating or lifting later 

is fine.  I guess my concern is, you know, all of the parties all agree and 

acknowledge that the stay you enter today would give NDOC out from 

under your order this week.  I guess I don’t want to be in a position 

whether there’s an order in place that we didn’t comply with or carry out 

execution this week.  And so as long as everyone agrees to the effect of 

this that you’re entering, we [indiscernible] -- 

   THE COURT:  [indiscernible] 
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   MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

   THE COURT:  What I’m going to do -- I mean the last 

sentence of the order clearly stays the execution.  I’ll have it filed today 

by the Clerk of the Court and then you can certainly -- an order vacating 

and this -- you know, be heard on any language [indiscernible] if you 

have any and have a little time to think about it.  But -- but I think it’s -- 

you know, the reason we’re at this point is because of the stipulation.  

And the stipulation was clear and repeatedly stated on the record a 

hundred thousand times that if the execution could not be effected, he 

would, you know, be entitled to pursue a habeas relief.  If something 

changes because he then acquires a new ability to go forward, he can 

again seek to suspend that and pursue the execution. 

   I see zero downside of signing the -- the order of stay, letting 

you look over vacate order and if you all agree I sign off on it and then 

you’re back to doing what you’re doing in front of Judge Gonzalez 

[indiscernible] -- 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Judge, Jonathan Vanboskerck for the 

DA’s Office.  Just one request; I have no objection to the procedure 

you’re proposing.  Just one request as to the order itself; on page 3, 

lines 3 and 4, it says, whereas Petitioner has now expressed a clear and 

unambiguous statement that he desires to pursue habeas relief instead 

of submitting to his sentence and; I don’t see that’s factually incorrect so 

you score that out. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So what I -- 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  ‘Cause he’s not asking. 
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   THE COURT:  -- is being proposed -- I’m sure -- what’s being 

proposed is lines 3 and 4 of page 3 be redacted so that it simply reads, 

whereas on June 19th, 2018 this Court entered a third supplemental 

warrant of execution and a third supplemental order of execution and 

now therefore, it is hereby ordered pursuant to NRS 176.486, NRS 

176.487 and NRS 176.488 that Petitioner’s execution is stayed and 

Petitioner may pursue habeas relief.  And take out “that”. 

   If I sign this, then if there’s anything else that you want to 

include -- you know, I just want to have something on file before 8 

o’clock.  And then you can look at whatever language you think 

appropriately addresses this circumstance and then order vacating the 

order what I’m thinking.  Does anyone object to taking out lines 3 and 4 

of page 3 and changing the word “so that” to “and” on line 6? 

   MR. SMITH:  This is Jordan Smith, Your Honor.  I have no 

objection to those changes.  I guess my concern is I don’t want it as 

though -- I don’t want to seem as though that NDOC is requesting a 

quote on quote, stay of the execution.  I mean our request is vacate and 

lift the order.  You know, I think stay under some of the statute has some 

consequences and I don’t it to be seen as [indiscernible] he is doing.  

But I understand given the exigency of the circumstances, this is -- this 

is the procedure that we are going with. 

   THE COURT:  Well, if you -- I -- I would expect that the order 

vacating my previous order would address the circumstances more 

specifically in that, you know, the Department of Corrections in light of 

the Court order from Department 11 -- I mean basically her Court order 
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may be stipulation between the parties actually impossible for today.  So 

I don’t -- I’m sure if given a little quiet reflection, one of you can come up 

with some language that -- that kind of memorializes what happened 

today, not by Mr. Dozier or NDOC’s preference, but just by the Court’s 

ruling and then put that into the order vacating. 

   MR. SMITH:  [indiscernible]  

   THE COURT:  So I could -- let’s see -- I mean it’s clear he’s 

not asking for the stay.  You’re not asking for the stay, but the stay is 

necessary based upon the terms of the stipulation.  So I would think you 

could put that language that, you know, the factual recitation in the order 

vacating of why it is that this is being vacated. 

   MR. SMITH:  This is Jordan Smith, Your Honor.  I think you 

put it correctly that I think is -- so I think that that’s right, so I will -- I will 

endeavor to do that in the proposed order around to the parties. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So as far as Mr. Ericsson, Mr. Anthony, 

Mr. Smith, Jonathan, you have no problem taking out 3 and 4, and “so 

that”, and -- 

   MR. ANTHONY:  Your Honor -- 

   THE COURT:  [indiscernible] 

   MR. ANTHONY:  -- Your Honor -- 

   THE COURT:  -- changing that to “and”? 

   MR. ANTHONY:  -- Your Honor, this is David Anthony.  No 

objection [indiscernible] to the proposal. 

   MR. ERICSSON:  And this is Thom Ericsson, I agree.  No 

objection to that change. 
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   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  No objection, Your Honor. 

   THE COURT:  And, Thom, when are you talking to him? 

   MR. ERICSSON:  Your Honor, I’m looking at the -- the officials 

here.  They’re giving me a thumbs up.  So I think I’ll be talking to him 

here pretty [indiscernible] -- 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So I’m going to have the redactions.  

I’m going to file the stay today.  And who is going to undertake -- I hear 

Mr. Smith, say you’re undertaking to -- to draft a proposed order 

vacating? 

   MR. SMITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  This is -- this is Jordan Smith.  

That’s right.  I’ll draft that proposed order [indiscernible] the parties 

[indiscernible] likely tomorrow. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  And does everybody -- is there a 

timeframe that you want to see this addressed by the Court? 

   MR. ANTHONY:  It would be my hope, Your Honor, that we 

could file something at least by Friday before the weekend that 

addresses it; that would be my hope. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, if you could get any proposed -- I 

mean it would be great if you could see if you could read it first and then 

if you can’t agree, provide the proposed order and the nature of the 

dispute to my law clerk so that I can look at it all.  And then if I need to I 

could have a phone conference.  I imagine since it’s very straight 

forward you might be able to agree. 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  [indiscernible]  

   THE COURT:  You know, I’ll err on the side of more 
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information rather than last if I was forced to choose, so keep that in 

mind and I’ll be available if you can’t agree. 

   MR. ERICSSON:  Your Honor, I agree with that. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  So I’m going to get the Clerk of the 

Court then to with redactions file this so something is on file before 8 

o’clock tonight and then I will wait to get any other proposed order.  And 

if all of you could just respond in writing to my law clerk, you know, yes, I 

agree or no, I don’t or whatever it is I request a phone conference, 

whatever you -- whatever you want. 

   MR. ERICSSON:  Yes, Your Honor. 

   THE COURT:  Anything else I need to address? 

   MR. SMITH:  Not from NDOC’s perspective, Your Honor. 

   MR. ERICSSON:  No.  Thank you for the time today. 

   MR. VANBOSKERCK:  Yes.  Thank you. 

   THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 

   MR. ANTHONY:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

   MR. SMITH:  Thank you. 

[Hearing concluded at 1:33 p.m.] 

 

* * * * * * 

ATTEST:  Pursuant to Rule 3C(d) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate 
Procedure, I acknowledge that this is a rough draft transcript, 
expeditiously prepared, not proofread, corrected, or certified to be an 
accurate transcript.  
  
      _____________________________ 
      Michelle Ramsey 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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